Interactions of Soluble Complement Regulators with Pathogenic Bacteria

Hanna Jarva

Department of Bacteriology and Immunology

Haartman Institute

University of Helsinki

Finland

Academic dissertation

To be publicly discussed, with permission of the Medical Faculty of the University of Helsinki, in the small auditorium of the Haartman Institute, Haartmaninkatu 3, on Saturday, June 5th, 2004, at 12 o'clock noon

SUPERVISOR

Seppo Meri MD, PhD, Professor Haartman Institute Department of Bacteriology and Immunology University of Helsinki, Finland

REVIEWERS

Markku Heikinheimo MD, PhD, Professor Hospital for Children and Adolescents, and Program for Developmental and Reproductive Biology Biomedicum Helsinki University of Helsinki, Finland

and

Markku Viander MD, PhD, Docent Department of Medical Microbiology University of Turku, Finland

OPPONENT

Sir Peter Lachmann FRS, FMedSci, Professor Microbial Immunology Group Centre for Veterinary Science Cambridge, UK

© 2004 by Hanna Jarva Printed at the Helsinki University Printing House, Helsinki, Finland ISBN 952-91-7261-3 (print) ISBN 952-91-7262-1 (pdf) http://ethesis.helsinki.fi

My mind and my body may grow weak, but God is my strength; he is all I ever need

How wonderful to be near God, to find protection with the Sovereign Lord!

Psalm 73: 26, 28

Contents

Abstract	6
Publications	8
Abbreviations	9
Introduction	11
Literature review	12
The complement system	12
The classical pathway	12
The alternative pathway	15
The lectin pathway	15
The terminal pathway	15
Regulators of complement	16
Functions of complement	23
Pentraxins – complement-interacting proteins	24
C-reactive protein (CRP)	25
Complement and microbes	26
Streptococcus pneumoniae	28
Complement and pneumococci	30
Streptococcus agalactiae	34
Complement and GBS	35
Neisseria meningitidis	
Complement and meningococci	43
Aims	46
Materials and Methods	47
Results and Discussion	51
Regulation of alternative pathway activation by CRP (I)	51
Pneumococci, group B streptococci and factor H (II, III)	53
Factor H (I-III)	58
C4bp and meningococci (IV)	59
Complement evasion in vivo	64
Complement evasion by pathogenic microbes (II-IV)	65
Conclusions and Summary	66
Acknowledgments	68
References	71

Abstract

The complement (C) system is part of the innate immune system in the first line of defense. It consists of over 30 soluble or membrane-bound components. The complement system can become activated through three different (the lectin, the classical and the alternative) pathways, and the activation is tightly regulated. The main functions of complement are to defend us against invaders, e. g. microbes, and to remove immune complexes, cell debris and apoptotic cells from the body. In the antimicrobial defense, C activation may lead to opsonization or lysis of the target, enhanced inflammatory reaction and recruitment of inflammatory cells.

Despite the antimicrobial activities of complement, pathogenic microbes have developed mechanisms whereby they can evade C attack. How do they do this? This question has been addressed in this work by analyzing the C evasion mechanisms of the important pathogens *Streptococcus pneumoniae* (pneumococcus), *Streptococcus agalactiae* (group B streptococci, GBS) and *Neisseria meningitidis* (meningococcus). The focus was on factors that regulate the activities of complement C3 convertases on the surface of bacteria. C3 convertases are central elements in C activation. Thus, their inhibition is a key feature that makes these bacteria virulent.

C-reactive protein (CRP) was first identified by its ability to bind to the Cpolysaccharide of pneumococci. It is the prototype acute phase protein, whose level increases during infection and tissue damage. In the present study it was found that CRP binds factor H, a fluid-phase inhibitor of the alternative pathway C3 convertase (I). CRP binds to two sites in the middle region of factor H, thereby leaving the functional activity of factor H intact. The results suggest that CRP can target factor H to areas of tissue damage to suppress unnecessary inflammatory reaction (I, II). On the other hand, CRPmediated binding of factor H could help pneumococci to evade C attack.

Pneumococci cause respiratory infections, meningitis and sepsis. GBS cause neonatal sepsis and skin infections in adults. Some strains of pneumococci and GBS express surface proteins that bind factor H. These proteins, pneumococcal Hic and B streptococcal β protein, were both found to bind to two similar sites in the middle region of factor H (II, III). The middle part of factor H, by binding to CRP, pneumococci and GBS, thus turned out to be a new functional region on factor H (I, II, III). Previously, there were no known ligands for this area of factor H. Pneumococci and GBS, via Hic and β , can directly acquire factor H to their surfaces. The results showed that surface-bound factor H remained functionally active and inhibited the alternative pathway C3 convertase. Hic and β protein, although from two different bacterial species, showed remarkable structural similarity and their binding sites on factor H overlapped. This suggests that the expression of these proteins is an analogous virulence mechanism that has been conserved through evolution of these two bacterial species, pneumococci and group B streptococci.

Serogroup B meningococci are gram-negative bacteria that cause meningitis and sepsis. They were found to regulate the classical pathway C3 convertase activity by binding another soluble C3 convertase regulator, the C4b-binding protein (C4bp) (IV). Binding was dependent on the expression of the PorA surface protein. By binding C4bp the meningococci were able to promote inactivation of C4b and inhibit the classical C pathway. Thus, while pneumococci and GBS evade the alternative pathway of C by binding factor H, meningococci protect themselves against C attack by acquiring the classical pathway inhibitor C4bp to their surface. Since C4bp is usually in tight complex with the anticoagulant protein S, meningococci may also indirectly influence blood coagulation via C4bp binding.

In summary, in this study the mechanisms whereby three important pathogenic bacteria evade C3 convertase activity and complement attack have been analyzed. Pneumococci, GBS and meningococci are pathogens that cause pneumonia, meningitis and sepsis and are responsible for significant morbidity and mortality worldwide. They express specific proteins with which they bind host complement regulators to their surfaces. These proteins (Hic, β and PorA) apparently are important virulence factors and could be exploited in the development of vaccines. An ideal vaccine could raise antibodies that not only bind to the microbes but also neutralize their complement evasion molecules.

Publications

This thesis is based on the following original publications which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals:

- I H. Jarva, T.S. Jokiranta, J. Hellwage, P.F. Zipfel and S. Meri. 1999. Regulation of complement activation by C-reactive protein: targeting the complement inhibitory activity of factor H by an interaction with short consensus repeat domains 7 and 8-11. *J. Immunol.* 163: 3957-62.
- II H. Jarva, R. Janulczyk, J. Hellwage, P.F. Zipfel, L. Björck and S. Meri. 2002. *Streptococcus pneumoniae* evades complement attack and opsonophagocytosis by expressing the *pspC* locus-encoded Hic protein that binds to short consensus repeats 8-11 of factor H. J. Immunol. 168:1886-94.
- III H. Jarva, J. Hellwage, T.S. Jokiranta, M.J. Lehtinen, P.F. Zipfel and S. Meri. 2004. The group B streptococcal β and pneumococcal Hic proteins are structurally related immune evasion molecules that bind the complement inhibitor factor H in an analogous fashion. *J. Immunol.* 172: 3111-8.
- IV H. Jarva, S. Ram, U. Vogel, A.M. Blom and S. Meri. 2004. Binding of the complement inhibitor C4bp to serogroup B *Neisseria meningitidis*. *Submitted*.

Abbreviations

AP	Alternative pathway of complement			
BSA	Bovine serum albumin			
С	Complement			
C1-INH	C1-inhibitor			
C4bp	C4b-binding protein			
CCP	Complement control protein unit			
СР	Classical pathway of complement			
CR1	Complement receptor 1			
CR3	Complement receptor 3			
CRP	C-reactive protein			
DAF	Decay-accelerating factor			
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunoadsorbent assay			
FACS	Fluorescence-activated cell sorter			
Fc	Crystallizable part of immunoglobulins			
FH	Factor H			
FHL-1	Factor H-like protein 1			
FHR	Factor H-related protein			
GAS	Group A streptococcus, S. pyogenes			
GBS	Group B streptococcus, S. agalactiae			
GPI	Glycosyl phosphatidyl inositol			
Ig	Immunoglobulin			
IL	Interleukin			
Hic	Factor H-binding inhibitor of complement			
kDa	kilodalton			
LNnT	Lacto-N-neotetraose			
LOS	Lipo-oligosaccharide			
MAC	Membrane attack complex			
MASP	MBL-associated serine protease			
MBL	Mannose binding lectin			
MCP	Membrane cofactor protein			
OMV	Outer membrane vesicle			
Opa	Opacity protein			
PorA	Porin A			
PorB	Porin B			
Psp	Pneumococcal surface protein			
PTX3	Pentraxin 3			
SAP	Serum amyloid P component			
SCR	Short consensus repeat			
SDS-PAGE	Sodium-dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis			
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor			
VR	Variable region			

Introduction

The complement (C) system is an essential part of the innate immune system in the first line of defense. Its functions include opsonization and lysis of microbes, attraction and activation of leukocytes and enhancement of the inflammatory response. In addition to acting independently, it also is an important effector arm for the adaptive immune system. With all its activities, complement also serves as a clean-up or waste-disposal system in the removal of immune complexes, chromatin, apoptotic cells and cell debris.

Microbes have survived on earth for over 3 billion years. Since the emergence of animal hosts, the microbes have had a long time to develop ways to evade the immune defense mechanisms of the potential hosts. Pathogenic bacteria have also developed specific mechanisms to evade complement. Although bacteria and the C system have been known for over a hundred years, it is only relatively recently that the roles of C evasion mechanisms in bacterial virulence have been addressed.

Some microbes are disguised with a capsule or lipopolysaccharide structures resembling host surfaces, and some express proteases that cleave C components. For many bacteria the C evasion mechanisms are still unknown.

The purpose of this study was to examine the complement evasion mechanisms of three pathogenic bacterial species, *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, *Streptococcus agalactiae* and *Neisseria meningitidis*. These bacteria cause some of the most severe infections like pneumonia, sepsis and meningitis. Complement evasion mechanisms affect directly the virulence of the microbe. Thus, by identifying factors whereby a particular microbe evades complement, it is possible to understand better how the microbe causes disease and how this could be prevented.

Literature review

The complement system

The complement system (C) is part of the innate immune system and consists of over 30 soluble or membrane-bound proteins (Table 1). Complement acts in the defense against microbes and other invaders and, on the other hand, in the removal of immune complexes and apoptotic or damaged cells, i.e. in the clean-up of the body.

Complement is activated through three different cascade-like pathways, (i) the classical pathway (CP), (ii) the alternative pathway (AP) and (iii) the lectin pathway. All three pathways converge at the C3 level and activation continues through the terminal pathway.

The classical pathway

When antibodies bind to their target with a sufficient density they can initiate activation of the CP. The first component in the CP, C1q is a complex 460 kDa molecule consisting of six subunits, each of which is comprised of 3 structurally related polypeptide chains (A, B and C) (53). C1q circulates in complex with two C1r and two C1s molecules (C1qr₂s₂) (193). The globular heads of the six subunits bind to the Fc part of IgG or IgM. Other activators of CP include C-reactive protein (CRP), nucleic acids and damaged cell membranes (61, 159, 227, 325). The binding of C1q to multiple IgG molecules or to surface-bound IgM results in a conformational change in C1q. This leads to proteolytic activation of C1r, which then, also proteolytically, activates C1s. C1s is the active enzyme in the C1qr₂s₂ complex, which cleaves C4 and C2 (Fig. 1).

C4 consists of three chains which are held together by disulphide bonds (280). C1s in the activated C1 complex cleaves C4 at a single site in the α chain. This leads to the release of a small C4a fragment and the disruption of an internal thioester in the C4b polypeptide. Subsequently, C4b can bind covalently to amino or hydroxyl groups on nearby surfaces (78, 187). However, the exposed thioester site is labile and quickly inactivated by hydrolysis if no target is available. Thus, C4b can only be deposited in the immediate vicinity of the C1 complex. Membrane-bound C4b is a receptor for C2, a single-chain plasma molecule. C2 is bound to C4b and cleaved by C1s to C2a, which remains bound to C4b, and to a smaller fragment C2b which is released from the complex (222, 223). C4b2a constitutes the CP C3 convertase (63).

The next component in the cascade is C3, which is composed of two chains, α and β , held together by disulphide bonds (221, 296). C3 is the most abundant C protein in plasma. Its concentration is 1-2 mg/ml and half of it is turned over daily. C3 is cleaved by C2a of the C4b2a complex at a single site on the α -chain. This cleavage leads to the release of the C3a fragment and the exposure of a thioester on the remaining C3b fragment. Upon disruption of the thioester, C3b can bind covalently to a target surface. When C3b binds to the C4b2a complex, the CP C5 convertase C3b4b2a is formed (168, 299).

CLASSICAL PATHWAY

ALTERNATIVE PATHWAY



Figure 1. Complement activation pathways. The regulators of complement are boxed. Enzymatic activity is indicated by broken arrows. Abbreviations: C1-INH, C1-inhibitor; MBL, mannose binding lectin; DAF, decay accelerating factor (CD55); C4bp, C4b binding protein; P, properdin; CR1, complement receptor 1 (CD35); FH, factor H; I, factor I; D, factor D; B, factor B; MCP, membrane cofactor protein (CD46); MAC, membrane attack complex; SC5b-9, soluble terminal complement complex.

Component	MW (kDa)	Serum conc. (µg/ml)	Function				
Classical pa	thway						
Clq	460	80	Binds to IgG and IgM, initiates CP activation				
Clr	83	50	Cleaves and activates C1s				
C1s	83	50	Cleaves and activates C4 and C2				
C4	205	600	C4b binds C2 and forms CP C3 convertase with C2a				
C2	102	20	C2a forms CP C3 convertase with C4b, cleaves and activates C3 and C5				
Alternative pathway							
Factor B	93	210	Bb forms AP C3 convertase with C3b, cleaves and activates C3 and C5				
Factor D	24	2	Cleaves and activates factor B				
Lectin pathy	way						
MBL	96 x 2	-6 0-5	Binds to carbohydrates on microbial surfaces, initiates the lectin pathway				
MASP-1	83		Cleaves and activates C3				
MASP-2	76		Cleaves and activates C4 and C2				
Common							
C3	185	1300	C3b forms the AP C3 convertase with Bb, forms the CP and AP C5 convertases with C4b2a and C3bBb				
Terminal pa	thway						
C5	190	70	C5b is part of MAC C5a is chemotactic and anaphylatoxic				
C6	120	65	Part of MAC				
C7	110	55	Part of MAC				
C8	150	55	Part of MAC				
C9	69	60	Part of MAC				

Table 1. Components of the complement activation pathways.

Abbreviations: MW, molecular weight; kDa, kilodalton; conc., concentration; CP, classical pathway; AP, alternative pathway; MBL, mannose binding lectin; MASP, mannose binding lectin-associated serine protease; MAC, membrane attack complex.

The alternative pathway

C3 is a central component also in AP activation. C3 is constantly hydrolyzed in the fluid-phase at a slow rate to form C3(H₂O) (181). C3(H₂O) binds factor B, a single-chain AP analogue of C2. Factor B, once bound to C3(H₂O) is cleaved by factor D (189, 190). Factor D is a serine protease, which cleaves factor B to a larger Bb fragment and a smaller Ba fragment that is released into the fluid phase. The formed C3(H₂O)Bb complex is a fluid phase C3 convertase, where the serine protease Bb cleaves C3 to C3b which can deposit on nearby surfaces. This constant low-level deposition of C3b on surfaces is called the tick-over phenomenon of the AP (181, 231). Subsequently, factor B binds to the deposited C3b on the surfaces. After cleavage by factor D, the resulting AP C3/C5 convertase C3bBb cleaves further C3 molecules.

The activation of AP augments also activation initiated by CP. This occurs after CP activation leads to the deposition of C3b on surfaces. C3b molecules are capable of binding factor B, which is then susceptible to cleavage by factor D. Thus, CP activation is amplified by the activation of AP. Therefore, the C3b-Bb-factor D circle is called the amplification loop. Even when activation is initiated through CP, the AP amplification loop needs to be recruited to ensure efficient C activation.

The lectin pathway

Mannose binding lectin (MBL) is a large molecule resembling C1q in structure. Its serum levels ($\approx 1 \ \mu g/ml$), however, are only 1/100th of those of C1q (108). MBL binds to polysaccharides rich in mannose and N-acetylglucosamine residues, which are present on some microbial cells. MBL is associated with two serine proteases, MBL-associated serine protease –1 and –2 (MASP-1 and -2) (275, 303). The surface-bound MBL-MASP-complex cleaves C4 and C2 and the activation of C continues as described above for CP.

The terminal pathway

C5 is a two-chain plasma protein which is cleaved by the C3b4b2a complex to a larger C5b fragment and and a smaller C5a, a powerful chemotactic and

anaphylatoxic agent (234, 324, 332). Analogously, C5 can be cleaved by the AP C5 convertase complex, C3bBbC3b. Regardless of whether C5 becomes cleaved by the CP or AP C5 convertase, the cleavage results in the exposure of a C6-binding site on C5b and initiation of membrane attack complex (MAC) formation.

C5b-6 complexes bind C7, the next C component. The binding of C7 results in a conformational change in the C5b67 complex, which is capable of inserting into nearby cell membranes (77, 183). The C8 component binds C7 in the complex, which then becomes more deeply buried in the target cell membrane (300).

C9 binds to the C5b-8 complex. This results in a conformational change in C9, which will enable it to traverse the membrane. At the same time, binding sites for additional C9 molecules are exposed on the C5b-9 complex. As more C9 molecules bind to the C5b-9 complex, a pore causing membrane leakiness is formed (311, 312). The MAC is the endpoint of C activation. It can cause osmotic lysis of the target cell or lead to various other effects, like cell activation because of calcium influx.

Regulators of complement

As complement can cause significant tissue damage, its activation must be kept in tight control. Both soluble and membrane-bound regulators keep C activation under control and protect self cells from unwanted consequences of C activation (Table 2).

Soluble regulators

C1-inhibitor

C1-inhibitor (C1-INH) is a soluble regulator of the CP. It is a single-chain, 105 kDa glycoprotein that belongs to the family of serine protease inhibitors (serpins), which share structural and functional properties (55, 128). The target specificities of these inhibitors are determined by amino acids at and close to the reactive center, which binds to the target proteases, i.e. C1r and C1s in the case of C1-INH. C1-INH is cleaved by the protease activities of C1r and C1s but remains tightly bound to the complex, thereby rendering the complex inactive (Fig. 1, Table 2).

C1-INH is also a biologically significant inhibitor of kallikrein and coagulation factor XII (71, 112). In addition, C1-INH inhibits plasmin and coagulation factor XIa (101, 127). C1-INH can also inhibit the MBL-associated serine proteases MASP-1 and MASP-2 (200). The inherited deficiency of functional C1-INH causes hereditary angioedema, a rare disease characterized by transient, recurrent attacks of cutaneous and mucosal edema. Even though the disease usually has a mild course, it is potentially life-threatening in case of laryngeal edema and consequent suffocation.

Component	MW Se (kDa) (erum conc. (μg/ml)	Function
Soluble regula	ators		
C1-INH	105	200	Binds and inactivates C1r and C1s
C4bp	540-590	250	Accelerates decay and inhibits formation of CP C3 convertase, cofactor for factor I
Factor H	150	500	Accelerates decay and inhibits formation of AP C3 convertase, cofactor for factor I
Factor I	90	35	Cleaves and inactivates C3b and C4b in the presence of a cofactor
Properdin	220	26	Stabilizes AP C3-convertase
S protein	80	500	Prevents MAC formation
Clusterin	70-80	50	Prevents MAC formation
Membrane-bo	ound regula	ators	
DAF (CD55)	70		Accelerates decay of AP and CP C3- and C5-convertases
MCP (CD46)	51-68		Cofactor for factor I
CR1 (CD35)	190-220		Accelerates decay of AP and CP C3- and C5-convertases, cofactor for factor I
Protectin (CD59) 18-23			Prevents MAC formation

 Table 2. Soluble and membrane-bound regulators of complement

Abbreviations: MW, molecular weight; kDa, kilodalton; conc., concentration; C1-INH, C1-inhibitor; C4bp, C4b-binding protein; CP, classical pathway; AP, alternative pathway; MAC, membrane attack complex.

C4b-binding protein

C4b-binding protein (C4bp) is a 540-590 kDa multi-chain regulator of the CP. C4bp usually consists of 7 α -chains (70 kDa) and one β -chain (45 kDa) (59, 140, 277). The chains are linked together by a central core (Fig. 2). The α -chains are composed of 8 and β -chains of 3 short consensus repeat (SCR; also called complement control protein repeat, CCP) units. Each SCR has appr. 60 amino acids held together in a domain structure by two internal disulphide bridges (149, 169).

C4bp regulates the activation of CP by preventing the assembly of the CP C3-convertase C4b2a and accelerating the decay of this complex by promoting dissociation of C2a from C4b (decay acceleration activity). It also acts as a cofactor for factor I in the cleavage of C4b (cofactor activity) (Fig. 1, Table 2) (104, 111, 224). The C4b binding sites on C4bp have been located to the N-terminal SCRs 1-3 of the α -chains (Fig. 2) (37). C4bp also binds heparin with a relatively high affinity, and the heparin binding sites have been mapped to the same SCRs 1-3 of the α -chains (37, 138). The C4bp-C4b interaction can be inhibited by heparin (138). Serum amyloid P component (SAP) binds to the central core (282). Some reports state that this interaction inhibits the C regulatory activities of C4bp, while other investigators have found no interference (107, 282).



Figure 2. Schematic structure of C4bp. The binding sites (SCR1-3) for C4b and heparin are marked on one α -chain. SAP, serum amyloid P component; SCR, short consensus repeat.

In circulation, 50% of C4bp is in complex with protein S, an anticoagulant protein. In regulating the coagulation cascade, activated protein C requires

protein S as a cofactor for its anticoagulant functions (330, 331). Protein S binds very strongly to CCP1 of the C4bp β -chain (131, 132). C4bp-bound protein S is functionally inactive (66). Appr. 70% of protein S is in complex with C4bp and only 30% remains free (and active) (67-69). On the other hand, protein S does not interfere with the C regulatory functions of C4bp.

Factor H

Factor H (FH) is a fluid-phase regulator of the AP amplification loop. It is a soluble 150 kDa protein composed of 20 SCR domains (Fig. 3) (233, 359). FH regulates the AP by inhibiting the binding of factor B to C3b, acting as a cofactor for factor I-mediated cleavage of C3b (cofactor activity) and accelerating the decay of the AP convertase C3bBb (decay-accelerating activity) (243, 335, 343). All these steps are essential in keeping the AP amplification loop under control. By controlling the key steps of the amplification loop FH inhibits also activation that has been initiated via the classical or the lectin pathway.

The cofactor and decay-accelerating activities of FH have been located to the SCR domains 1-4 (117, 178, 179). FH has three binding sites for C3b, the first at the N-terminal SCRs 1-4, the second in the middle part of FH at SCRs 12-14 and the third at the most C-terminal SCRs 19-20 (160, 162, 284). FH has also three binding sites for heparin, at SCR7, around SCR13 and at SCR20 (Fig.3) (34, 35, 211, 241). These heparin binding sites correlate with the binding of FH to polyanions, like glycosaminoglycans and sialic acids.

In addition to controlling the AP activation in the fluid phase, FH has an important function in discrimination between AP activating and nonactivating surfaces. As C3 undergoes spontaneously low level hydrolysis to produce C3(H₂O) that can bind factor B (tick-over), the AP is in a continuous state of alertness to react with target structures (181). Upon contact with a surface the default for AP is to become activated, unless inhibited. As a consequence, C3b molecules get constantly deposited on nearby surfaces. Surfaces of intact human cells ("nonactivators") are abundant in terminal sialic acids and glycosaminoglycans. As FH has a high affinity for C3b when the surface around C3b is coated with these polyanions, AP activation is kept under control (91, 166, 211, 242).

However, if the surface is devoid of polyanions, the affinity of FH for surface-associated C3b is reduced and C activation proceeds.

Following tissue damage because e.g. of infection, inflammation or ischemia, the structural integrity of cell membranes breaks down and different types of structures like certain phospholipids, cytoskeletal components and nuclear chromatin become exposed. Many of these structures activate the CP. As the emerging structures may lead to unrestricted activation of C, there is a need to suppress excessive AP amplification. At the same time, however, the clearance of nonviable structures should occur in a well-regulated and focused manner. At present, we only partially understand how this important process is orchestrated.



Figure 3. Factor H protein family. All members consist exclusively of SCR domains. The individual domains are aligned according to the highest homology. Heparin binding sites are marked on FH, FHL-1 and FHR-3. FHR-1 and -5 also bind heparin but the heparin-binding domain has not been established yet. FHL-1, factor H-like protein 1; FHR, factor H-related protein.

Factor H protein family

Factor H is a member of a family of proteins that also contains factor H-like protein 1 (FHL-1) and factor H-related proteins 1-5 (FHR-1-5) (Fig. 3) (205, 359). FHL-1 is an alternatively spliced product of the FH gene. FHL-1 consists of the seven most N-terminal SCR-domains of FH and four unique amino acids at the C-terminal end (360). The plasma concentration of FHL-1

is only 10-50 μ g/ml, i.e. about 2-10 % of that of FH. FHL-1 has decayaccelerating and cofactor activities, which suggests that FHL-1 has C regulatory activity *in vivo* (178, 179). FHRs are encoded for by separate genes located in the "regulators of complement activation" (RCA) gene cluster on chromosome 1, band 1q32. To date, 5 FHRs have been identified. All of these are exclusively composed of SCR domains and bear striking structural similarity to each other and FH (359). Despite the fact that FHRs all are known to bind C3d part of C3b with their two most C-terminal domains, their functions are still unknown (134, 135).

Factor I

Factor I is a soluble 90 kDa protein that consists of two chains, the heavy (50 kDa) and the light (38 kDa) chain (182, 270). Factor I cleaves C3b and C4b in the presence of a cofactor. The cofactor can be either C4bp, factor H, membrane cofactor protein (MCP) or complement receptor type 1 (CR1). The function of factor I is essential in the regulation of C activation. The deficiency of factor I is very rare, only a few dozen cases have been described in the literature (328). Analysis of patients with factor I deficiency has provided important insight into the activities of the AP (2, 358). Factor I deficiency leads to a secondary deficiency of C3 and susceptiblity to recurrent pyogenic infections.

Other soluble regulators

Properdin is the only known physiological positive regulator of C. Properdin stabilizes the C3bBb complex of the AP. Binding of properdin to the complex extends its half-life 3-4 –fold (93). Properdin circulates in plasma as oligomers of 2-4 53 kDa polypeptides (286).

Two soluble inhibitors of the terminal C pathway have been described. Clusterin (SP40,40, apolipoprotein J) is a multifunctional 70-80 kDa glycoprotein, which consists of disulphide-linked α - and β -chains (156). Clusterin was first recognized by its ability to aggregate Sertoli cells (36). Later, it was recognized as a C inhibitor. It binds to the terminal C5b67 and C5b678 complexes and prevents their insertion into cell membranes (310). S protein (vitronectin, cell-spreading factor) is an 80 kDa protein composed of two disulphide-linked chains (249). One form of S protein mediates cell attachment in tissues (19). In the C system, soluble S protein binds to the fluid-phase C5b67 complex, and keeps it in the fluid phase similarly as clusterin (249).

Membrane-bound regulators

To date, four membrane-bound regulators of C have been identified in man (Table 2). Three of these inhibit the C3 and C5 convertases and one (protectin) inhibits formation of the MAC.

Membrane cofactor protein (MCP, CD46)

Membrane cofactor protein is a 51-68 kDa integral membrane glycoprotein. It is present on nearly all cell types except erythrocytes. MCP contains 4 SCR domains, a transmembrane region and a cytoplasmic tail (194). MCP binds to C3b and C4b and acts as a cofactor for factor I-mediated cleavage of both proteins (283).

Decay accelerating factor (DAF, CD55)

Decay accelerating factor is a 70 kDa membrane glycoprotein. It consists of 4 SCR domains and is anchored to the cell-membrane via a glycophosphoinositol (GPI) anchor (207, 208). DAF binds to and dissociates both the CP (C4b2a) and AP (C3bBb) C3/C5 convertases (230).

Complement receptor 1 (CR1, CD35)

Complement receptor 1 is a receptor for C3b and C4b (92). It is a long membrane glycoprotein that exists in two major allelic froms of 190 and 220 kDa. CR1 consists of 30 SCR units and has three binding sites for C3b and/or C4b (172, 173). Multiple binding sites allow multivalent interactions with immune complexes containing several C3b and C4b molecules. CR1 acts as a cofactor for the factor I-mediated cleavage of C3b and C4b (148, 206). It also accelerates the decay of the AP and CP C3/C5 convertases, C3bBb and C4b2a, respectively.

CD59 (protectin)

Protectin is another GPI-anchored C regulator (293). It is a glycosylated membrane protein with an apparent mass of 18-23 kDa. Protectin is present on practically all cell surfaces. It inhibits the assembly of MAC by binding to

terminal C complex-associated C8 and C9 and preventing C9 incorporation and polymerization (210, 263). Protectin can become released from the cell surface. When detached from its lipid anchor by a phospholipase, protectin is converted into a soluble form (209).

Functions of complement

Complement has functions both in the defense against microbes and, on the other hand, in the clean-up of tissues. Complement activation leads to deposition of C4b and C3b and their inactivation products on the target surface. Phagocytes have receptors for C3b and C4b (CR1) and iC3b (CR3 and CR4) (94, 269). The recognition of these opsonins by the phagocytic cells enhances phagocytosis. The soluble cleavage products C3a and C5a released during C activation are powerful chemotactic agents and anaphylatoxins (332). Thus, an inflammatory response is generated at the site of C activation. This also promotes removal of the intruding microbes. Terminal pathway activation leads to the formation of MAC on the target surface. This is important in the defense against gram-negative microbes. In gram-positive organisms the peptidoglycan effectively inhibits the formation of MAC. The formation of MAC is especially important in the killing of *Neisseriae*. This is underlined by the fact that individuals deficient in the late components of C are susceptible to recurrent neisserial infections.

Recently, it was found that C3d acts as a powerful natural adjuvant in the antigen presentation to B cells (73). Antigens become coated with C3b which is eventually cleaved into iC3b and C3d. Follicular dendritic cells and B cells have receptors for C3b and C3d (CR1/CD35 and CR2/CD21). A contact between the follicular dendritic cell-bound antigen-C3d complex and the B cell coreceptor complex of CD21/CD19/CD81 leads to an enhanced B cell response (232). Without the presence of C components, the antibody response and the development of memory cells would be less efficient.

A very important function of complement is the solubilization and transport of immune complexes (278). The CP gets activated on immune complexes and this leads to the deposition of C4b and C3b on the complexes. The binding of C proteins inhibits the formation of large complexes and also makes them more soluble. C4b and C3b are recognized and bound by CR1 on erythrocytes, and the complexes get transported to the liver and spleen for disposal.

Complement also has a role in the clearance of apoptotic cells. C1q binds directly to surface blebs of apoptotic cells and CP gets activated until the C3b level (176, 227, 228). C3b is inactivated to iC3b, which is bound by the CR3 (CD11b/CD18) receptor on macrophages. The apoptotic cell becomes phagocytosed. As C activation does not proceed to the C5 level, C5a, the powerful chemotaxin and anaphylatoxin, is not released. Thus, the inflammatory reaction remains controlled. Recent results also suggest a role for C in the development of B cell tolerance against autoantigens. C4 and the CR1 and CR2 receptors are thought to be involved in the negative selection of self-reactive B cells (250).

Pentraxins – complement-interacting proteins

The complement system interacts with several plasma proteins, e.g. the pentraxins. Pentraxins are a family of proteins with a characteristic pentameric organization of identical subunits (110). The classical pentraxins are C-reactive protein (CRP) and serum amyloid P component (SAP). CRP consists of 5 monomers in a β -jelly roll topology while SAP has 10 monomers arranged in two layers (110). SAP has 60% amino acid homology with CRP (175). The genes for both SAP and CRP are located in chromosome 1 (288). CRP and SAP have been found in all mammalian species studied so far and also in many invertebrates. Their structures have remained conserved during evolution and no deficiencies are known (248). In humans, monkeys, dogs and rabbits CRP is an acute phase protein whereas SAP is constitutively expressed. In contrast, in mice SAP is an acute phase reactant and CRP is constitutively expressed (175, 248).

In recent years, new, so-called long pentraxins have been identified. The best known of these is pentraxin 3 (PTX3) (43, 188). Long pentraxins are structurally related to the short pentraxins SAP and CRP. PTX3 has a C-terminal pentraxin-like domain and an N-terminal portion which is not related to CRP or SAP (43). Common functional features of all three pentraxins include the binding of C1q and the ability to activate the CP (61,

225, 353). It has also been postulated that pentraxins have a role in the removal of apoptotic cells (87, 109, 226).

C-reactive protein (CRP)

C-reactive protein is the prototype acute phase protein. Its serum level is usually below 1 μ g/ml but during inflammation or extensive tissue damage it may rise up to 500 μ g/ml within 24 hours due to increased synthesis in liver (60, 248). CRP production is stimulated by IL-1 and IL-6 and quickly subsides once the triggering factor has been eliminated (21). Measurement of CRP is widely used in clinical practice to assess the severity and extent of infection, inflammation and tissue damage (105, 154).

CRP was initially identified and named by its capacity to bind to and precipitate the C-polysaccharide of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* (pneumococcus) (1, 304). Later, the binding ligand on the pneumococcal C-polysaccharide was found to be phosphorylcholine (326). Several other ligands for CRP have been recognized during the last decades. The binding of CRP to its ligands is dependent on the presence of calcium (1, 175). CRP has two calcium-binding sites on each of its monomers. CRP has been shown to bind to e.g. chromatin, DNA, nucleosomes, histones, cell debris and Fc γ RII receptors on macrophages (30, 80, 260, 261, 289, 351).

One of the first CRP ligands identified was phosphorylcholine present on damaged or apoptotic cell membranes (261, 327). This ligand is normally not accessible on the cell surface but becomes exposed after tissue injury. CRP binds C1q and activates CP (61, 325, 344). However, C activation by CRP does not lead to the formation of MAC. Instead C activation seems to be stopped at the C3b level but the mechanism of this has not been known (24).

Despite the fact that CRP-measurement is one of the most common laboratory tests in medicine, the physiological function of CRP has remained unknown. CRP binds to pneumococci and some other microbes, e.g. *Haemophilus influenzae* and *Leishmania donovani* (65, 337). In animal experiments CRP protects mice from pneumococcal infection (220, 295, 355). However, this can hardly be the main physiological role of CRP. A more important function for CRP could be in the removal of apoptotic cells and cell debris (109). CRP binds to apoptotic cells and to cell material exposed during cellular damage (e.g. chromatin and phospholipids) (261).

Complement and microbes

Microbes in general are susceptible to C attack. However, in order to be pathogenic, an organism must survive in the host and evade the immune system. Thus, many pathogenic microbes have evolved mechanisms to evade C attack (90, 161, 256, 348).

The thick peptidoglycan layer of gram-positive bacteria is in general protective against MAC formation and lysis. Therefore, activation of the terminal pathway has a minor role in the defense against gram-positive bacteria. Also the bacterial capsule and, and especially in gram-negative organisms, the *O*-polysaccharide side chains of the lipopolysaccharides offer steric hindrance against MAC formation.

Some microbes have been found to bind C regulators, e.g. factor H. Microbes do not naturally produce glycosaminoglycans for FH to bind, but they can have e.g. hyaluronic or sialic acid moieties. For example, serotype III group B streptococci, group B meningococci and *Escherichia coli* K1 produce capsules that are composed of polysialic acid (17, 31, 164). Although polymeric sialic acid does not seem to bind FH efficiently, the capsules of these bacteria are thought to mediate C resistance via FH binding. Specific resistance to the AP can also be mediated by surface proteins that bind FH. Once FH is bound to the surface through these molecules, C activation is restricted. E.g. the M-protein of group A streptococcus (GAS, *Streptococcus pyogenes*) and the OspE-protein family of serum-resistant strains of *Borrelia burgdorferi* bind FH from serum (136, 143). The FH-binding capacity is not restricted to bacteria as the yeast *Candida albicans* and the nematode parasite *Onchocerca volvulus* have also been shown to acquire FH to their surfaces (212, 213).

Microbes have also been shown to acquire the CP regulator C4bp to their surfaces. At least group A streptococcal M-protein, *N. gonorrhoeae* and *Bordetella pertussis* bind C4bp (23, 252, 302). In general, the binding of FH

or C4bp may confer serum resistance to bacteria and prevent their opsonophagocytosis.

Also the membrane-bound regulators of C are utilized by several microbes. *Helicobacter pylori* and *E. coli* have been shown to acquire GPI-anchored protectin (CD59) from human cells at the site of infection (255, 257). The hijacked CD59 is incorporated into the bacterial cell membrane in a functionally active form. Thus, the microbes are protected against C lysis. As an example of C inhibitors that microbes produce themselves, trypanosomes are capable of synthesizing a DAF-like inhibitor (T-DAF) of the CP or AP C3/C5 convertases (235).

Some pox- and herpesviruses encode proteins with functional similarities to human C regulators. E.g Herpes simplex –virus HSV-1 encodes the gC-1 protein that is not structurally homologous to human C inhibitors but accelerates the decay of the AP C3 convertase and inhibits the binding of properdin to C3b (103, 177). It thus resembles functionally CR1 and FH.

In addition to acquisition of CD59, *H. pylori* can avoid C activation by expressing the urease enzyme which cleaves C3 (262). Also *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* expresses proteases that cleave C1q and C3 (142). By cleaving the chemotactic and anaphylatoxic C5a, microbes can restrict the developing inflammatory reaction and the recruitment of inflammatory cells to the site of infection. At least GAS, *Entamoeba histolytica, Serratia marcescens* and group B streptococci (see below) have been shown to express a C5a peptidase (38, 237, 258, 342).

Only some of the various microbial C evasion mechanisms have been described above. The multiplicity of mechanisms becomes evident even from these examples. However, despite the constantly accumulating knowledge, the complement evasion mechanisms of pathogenic microbes are still only partially known. Although some mechanisms how microbes avoid C activation *in vitro* have been recognized, it is not known whether these mechanisms have any functional significance for the microbial survival in the human host. The C evasion molecules often represent microbial virulence factors. Also, these factors represent putative vaccine targets. Therefore, their recognition is important for attempts to prevent infections.

Streptococcus pneumoniae

Streptococcus pneumoniae is a frequent colonizer of the nasopharynx both in children and in adults. In small amounts, it is considered as part of the normal upper respiratory tract flora. However, pneumococci cause upper and lower respiratory tract infections, as well as invasive infections like sepsis, meningitis and suppurative arthritis. Pneumococcus causes more deaths than any other bacterium, and pneumococcal infections are the fifth leading cause of mortality worldwide (163). The disease burden lies mostly on infants, elderly people over 60 years of age and on the immunocompromised.

Pneumococci are divided into over 90 serotypes according to the structure of their capsular polysaccharide (137). However, only about 20 serotypes are frequently isolated in clinical samples (52, 119). There is considerable variation in virulence among pneumococcal strains even with identical capsular serotypes.



Figure 4. Schematic structure of the pneumococcal cell surface. Hic and several other PspC (pneumococcal surface protein C) family proteins are anchored to the cell wall via an LPXTG motif. PspA and several other choline binding proteins are attached to the choline residues of lipoteichoic acid (LTA) and C-polysaccharide (teichoic acid). The structure of the capsular polysaccharide is the basis of pneumococcal serotype division.

The pneumococcal surface consists of several layers (Fig. 4). Innermost is the cell membrane, followed by a few layers of peptidoglycan and the cell wall polysaccharide (C-polysaccharide or teichoic acid) (305). The polysaccharide capsule of virtually all virulent streptococci has a negative charge (155, 294). The C-polysaccharide and the lipoteichoic acid, that is attached to the cell membrane, have an unusual structure including choline (48, 307). Several surface proteins of pneumococci are attached noncovalently via a choline binding domain to the choline moiety (124, 264, 356). Some surface proteins are anchored to the cell wall through the common gram-positive bacterial cell wall peptidoglycan attachment motif (LPXTG) (147, 152). Many surface proteins have positively charged regions that interact with the negatively charged capsule (155, 294). The capsule itself is a loose structure and following complement activation C3b becomes deposited both on the capsular surface and on the cell wall (146).

The virulence factors of pneumococci have been extensively studied for decades and several factors have been shown to be involved. The capsule is a prerequisite for virulence. Non-capsulated mutants have low virulence and are quickly cleared from the circulation (333, 334). However, the main role of the capsule in virulence is probably to protect pneumococci against phagocytosis. Other factors significant for virulence or evasion of the host defense include pneumococcal surface proteins A and C (PspA, PspC), pneumococcal surface adhesin A (PsaA), pneumolysin and autolysins (e.g. LytA) (25, 26, 28, 47, 49, 54).

Pneumococcal vaccines

Currently, the focus in pneumococcal vaccines is in capsular conjugate vaccines with a protein carrier. They have proven out to be more immunogenic than the polysaccharide vaccines (180, 246, 347). At present, the first 7-valent conjugate vaccine with diphteria toxin as a carrier is in clinical use in many countries and several conjugate vaccines are in clinical trials (347). Conjugate vaccines are immunogenic in infants as well as in adults but they are more expensive which limits the use in the developing countries. Furthermore, the valency is limited and there have been signs that the serotypes against which the vaccine is not directed become more prevalent (236, 240). Another possibility is to use pneumococcal proteins as vaccines or, more attractively, combinations of proteins and polysaccharides. The latter could confer cross-protection against several serotypes. Pneumococcal proteins that have been or are being tested in animal models or in humans include pneumolysin, PspA, choline binding protein A (CbpA), pneumococcal surface adhesin A (PsaA) and the PhpA protein (44-46, 238, 357). The hope is that antibodies developing against important virulence factors would neutralize them and promote immune clearance of the pathogenic bacterium.

Complement and pneumococci

Both the classical and alternative pathway of C are important in defense against pneumococcal infections (130, 144, 151). Terminal pathway activation and the formation of the membrane attack complex are ineffective against pneumococci because as gram-positive bacteria pneumococci lack an outer membrane to which the MAC could insert. Individuals deficient in the early components of CP or AP are susceptible to pneumococcal infections, even to recurrent infections (96, 151). Antibody production against pneumococci is compromised in patients lacking C3 (130). IgG2 appears to be the most important antibody subclass in the humoral response to pneumococcus. Patients deficient in IgG2, and IgA-deficient individuals who have concomitantly impaired IgG2 responses, are at an increased risk for pneumococcal infection (185, 272). This is probably based on the ability of IgG2 to preferentially recognize carbohydrates.

The activation of AP is crucial for opsonophagocytosis and the clearance of pneumococci. Tu et al. demonstrated the significance of AP by using mice deficient in factor B, C3 or C5 (313). Natural infection and immunization elicit a capsule-specific IgA-response. In the absence of complement, this specific IgA could induce minimal bacterial uptake and killing by phagocytes. AP activation was required for efficient phagocytosis. Interestingly, polymeric (dimeric) IgA seems to be capable of activating complement on the surface of pneumococci and participate in the opsonophagocytosis (150). It has also been shown that the efficiency of opsonization with C3 fragments depended on intact AP even though it was initiated by the CP (350). In contrast, Brown et al. have demonstrated, using knock-out mice, that both CP and AP are needed for the clearance of pneumococci in mice but the CP is the dominant one (50). Studies in mice have demonstrated that natural IgM-class antibodies play an important role in activating the CP on pneumococci. Thus, it appears that in the defense against pneumococci the CP is important in initiating complement activation, whereas the AP determines the final amount of C3 deposition on the bacteria.

Complement evasion by pneumococci

As pathogens pneumococci need to protect themselves against C attack. The capsule efficiently prevents MAC attack but multiple mechanisms are needed to prevent opsonophagocytosis. In the following, some factors that are presumed to influence C attack on pneumococci are descibed.

Pneumolysin

Pneumolysin is a 53 kDa intracellular protein expressed by all virulent strains of pneumococci (62). It is cytotoxic to several cell types, e.g. erythrocytes, leukocytes, endothelial cells and alveolar epithelial cells (62). Pneumolysin also activates the CP even at sites distant from the organism (247). This may lead to complement depletion and reduced serum opsonic activity. CP activation has been suggested to be mediated through pneumolysin's capacity to bind to the Fc part of IgG (217). Pneumolysin is a virulence factor for pneumococci, as mutant strains not expressing pneumolysin are avirulent (27, 28). However, the virulence differences between strains can not be attributed to differences in pneumolysin production alone (22).

Pneumococcal factors affecting C3b degradation

Early studies have shown that pneumococcal strains with different capsular types differ in the amounts and sites of bound C3b, as well as in the types C3b degradation products generated (146). Cheng et al. showed that CbpA, a choline-binding protein of the PspC family binds directly C3 (58). Later it has been suggested that pneumococci can degrade both α and β chains of C3 in the absence of serum components (8). Hostetter has reported that two pneumococcal proteins appear to have proteolytic activity against C3 (145). Using sequences of these proteins it was recognized that one of them is a fragment of a larger protein, which was cloned and named PhpA (357). A 79 kDa fragment of PhpA was used for immunization in mice and found to be protective against several pneumococcal strains. However, the ultimate function of this protein remains unclear, as it has not yet been confirmed that this fragment of PhpA has proteolytic activity for C3.

Pneumococcal surface protein A

Pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA) is a surface exposed protein that is one of the most extensively studied pneumococcal surface antigens. PspA is expressed by all clinically important pneumococcal serotypes (64). It consists of a highly charged N-terminal α -helical coiled-coil domain, a proline-rich region, a choline-binding domain and a 17 amino acid hydrophobic C-terminal tail (354).

Although the specific mechanism of action of PspA is not known, it is required for full virulence in mouse models of pneumococcal infection (202). It has been suggested that PspA functions as a complement inhibitor. Tu et al. showed that in mice deficient in C3 or factor B, PspA-negative strains became fully virulent (313). In wild type or C5-deficient mice PspAnegative strains were avirulent. PspA reduced the amount of C3b deposited on pneumococci. This suggests that PspA affects the activation of the AP and inhibits the formation and/or function of the AP C3 convertase (313). This in turn would reduce the efficiency of complement receptor-mediated clearance. The precise mechanism how PspA acts in this respect is not yet known. Based on the results of Tu et al. it can not be excluded that PspA acts through binding FH (313). However, Neeleman et al. have shown that pneumococcal binding of FH is not dependent on the expression of PspA, and at least on serotype 3 pneumococci the resistance to phagocytosis is not dependent on PspA expression (229). It has also later been observed both by FACS analysis and by surface plasmon resonance assays that PspA does not bind FH (70, Hellwage et al., unpublished). Thus, the complement inhibitory mechanism of PspA remains open.

Pneumococcal surface protein C

The pneumococcal surface protein C (PspC) -family is a group of relatively polymorphic proteins. Originally, PspC was identified by its similarity to PspA (49, 201). Later, Hammerschmidt et al. found an IgA-binding protein SpsA, and Rosenow et al. isolated a choline-binding protein which they named CbpA (choline-binding protein A) (124, 264). Sequence analyses showed that these proteins are encoded by alleles of the same locus (49). Other allelic forms have been named after their binding characteristics, e.g. C3-binding protein and FH-binding inhibitor of complement (Hic) (58, 152). The *pspC* gene is present in 75-100% of pneumococcal strains (49, 147). The lower estimate is at least partly due to the fact that the PspC proteins are so polymorphic that they are not always recognized as part of the group. Iannelli et al. sequenced the pspC locus of 43 pneumococcal strains (147). According to their results each pneumococcal strain contains a *pspC* gene at the same chromosomal location and each pneumococcal strain has a unique sequence at the pspC locus (147). PspC proteins can be divided into 11 groups. Common features for all groups are an N-terminal signal peptide followed by an α -helical region, a proline-rich region and a C-terminal anchor. In groups 1-6, the protein is anchored to the cell wall by a choline binding motif. Group 7-11 PspC proteins are not anchored via choline, instead they have the LPXTG motif, the typical cell wall sorting signal of gram-positive bacteria. The main N-terminal region is predicted to have an α -helical structure and its size varies between 118-589 amino acids (147). Eight structurally conserved domains could be recognized by amino acid sequence comparison. It seems that these eight domains are building blocks for the N-terminal variable region in all PspC-proteins. The proline-rich region is similar within the groups and also resembles the proline-rich region of PspA (147).

PspCs are the only pneumococcal proteins that have been shown to bind FH directly. First, Janulczyk et al. used streptococcal M protein and yersinial YadA protein nucleotide and amino acid sequences to find putative FHbinding proteins in the pneumococcal genome (152). The highest scoring homology was identified to an allele of the *pspC* locus. The protein encoded by this gene was found to be the FH-binding protein on a serotype 3 pneumococcal strain and named as the factor H-binding inhibitor of complement or Hic (152). Structurally, Hic differs from the previously recognized PspC-proteins, which might explain why serotype 3 was originally considered to be PspC-negative. In the new nomenclature suggested by Iannelli Hic belongs to group 11 with two other serotype 3 PspC-proteins (147).

Hic is an \approx 70 kDa protein that is anchored to the pneumococcal cell wall via the LPXTG motif which resembles the cell wall binding motif of e.g. group A streptococcal M-proteins (152). The FH-binding region on Hic has been mapped to the N-terminal amino acids 39-261 (or 1-223 when the signal peptide is omitted) (Fig. 5). There is no 3-dimensional model of Hic but computer predictions based on amino acid sequence suggest that the Nterminal signal peptide is followed by an α -helical region, also responsible for FH binding (152). The C-terminal part of Hic has the typical proline-rich repeats of PspC proteins. In the case of Hic, there are 24 repeats of 11 amino acids (152). The function of this region remains is unknown. In the Cterminus, the cell-wall spanning part is followed by the LPSTGS sequence by which Hic is anchored to the bacterial cell wall.



Figure 5. A schematic representation of the Hic protein. Factor H binding region is located at the N-terminal half of the protein and followed by a proline-rich region. S, signal peptide; C, C-terminal region.

The PspC-proteins have also other ligands than factor H. Originally, the PspC protein named SpsA was found to bind secretory IgA (124). The IgAbinding motif is a hexapeptide YRNYPT, present in the N-terminal part of several PspCs (125, 147). As an exception, the motif was absent from PspCs expressed by serotype 3 strains (147). Therefore, it seems that the ability to bind IgA is a widespread and conserved characteristic within the PspC family. Whether this type of IgA binding has anything to do with the ability of pneumococcus-bound polymeric IgA to activate complement, remains to be solved (150).

Streptococcus agalactiae

Group B beta-hemolytic streptococci (GBS, *Streptococcus agalactiae*) are the leading cause of severe neonatal infections. GBS are currently divided into 9 serotypes (Ia, Ib, II-VIII) according to the structure of their capsular polysaccharide. Protective antibodies are directed against the polysaccharide capsule but they are not cross-protective against other serotypes (57).

GBS are part of the normal vaginal flora in 15-35 % of women (14). The neonate usually acquires the infection through perinatal transmission from the mother's genital tract. If the mother has serotype-specific IgG-antibodies, these are transmitted via placenta to the fetus and have been shown to protect the newborn from invasive disease (16). In the neonate the infection usually presents with sepsis, pneumonia or meningitis (14). GBS also cause skin infections, sepsis, meningitis and pneumonia in adults (79, 88).

GBS vaccines

Efficient GBS vaccines are needed to prevent neonatal morbidity and mortality. As the protective capsular polysaccharide antibodies are transmitted through the placenta, vaccination of the mother confers immunity also to the newborn. Levels of maternal antibodies against GBS correlate with the neonate's immunity to infection (16). The first vaccines in clinical trials were composed of capsular polysaccharides. However, polysaccharide vaccines are not immunogenic enough, furthermore, they are not crossprotective. To prevent invasive disease in the Western world, at least a pentavalent (Ia, Ib, II, III and V) polysaccharide vaccine is needed (244). Furthermore, the serotype prevalence varies between regions. Several carrier proteins have been tried, including tetanus toxoid, the β protein and C5a-ase (57, 184, 196, 339). Some of the conjugate vaccines are in clinical trials but none is yet widely available. Also bivalent protein vaccines have been tested in animal models (186).

Complement and GBS

The polysaccharide capsule of GBS prevents opsonophagocytosis. Type III GBS are one of the most common isolates in invasive infections (14, 281). The type III strains expressing an unusually large amount of capsular polysaccharide have been associated with higher invasiveness (199). Already over twenty years ago it was shown that the sialic-acid rich capsule of type III GBS inhibits AP activation in adult sera deficient in type-specific anticapsular antibodies (85). Later, it was observed that the sialic acid moiety of the type III capsular polysaccharide was crucial in inhibiting AP activation (84). Asialylation of the capsular polysaccharide led to the loss of virulence of the mutant strain (340). Therefore, sialic acid in the capsule is a critical factor in the pathogenicity of type III GBS. The sialic acid-rich capsule

prevents C3b deposition, presumably through the action of factor H (199). Inhibition of AP activation can be overcome by specific antibodies, thus resulting in the deposition of C3b on the bacterial surface and opsonophagocytosis by neutrophils (84, 85, 199).



Figure 6. Schematic structure of the group B streptococcal cell surface. The β protein is anchored to the cell wall via an LPXTG motif common to many gram-positive bacterial surface proteins. The group-specific cell wall polysaccharide is attached to the peptidoglycan layer.

While the sialic acid content of the capsule correlates with the inhibition of the AP activation and resistance to phagocytosis, the CP has been implicated in the antibody-independent humoral defense against GBS. Both C4-deficient and C3-deficient mice were susceptible to GBS infection suggesting that the CP also has a role in opsonization even in the absence of specific antibodies (338). Other studies have shown that GBS can directly activate the CP (15, 82). Butko et al. showed that C1q directly binds to GBS through the globular head region and this binding is not dependent on the polysaccharide capsule (51). Binding of C1q by itself was not sufficient to promote opsonophagocytosis but the binding of C1q together with IgG promoted the binding of GBS to phagocytes (51).

Complement evasion by GBS

In addition to the capsule, several strains of GBS have been shown to express other factors useful in avoiding of C activation on or near their surface (Fig. 6).
C5a-ase

The AP and CP C5 convertases cleave C5 into C5b and C5a, which is a powerful chemotactic agent. In 1988 it was shown that a majority of GBS strains were capable of directly inactivating C5a (139). The responsible enzyme was called C5a-ase and it cleaves C5a and C5a_{desArg} molecules between the His and Lys present at amino acid positions 67 and 68 (38). C5a-ase is believed to contribute to the pathogenicity of GBS. However, not all invasive strains express C5a-ase so the production of this enzyme is not necessary for virulence (5, 297). C5a-ase reduces the recruitment of leukocytes to sites of infection and probably also contributes to GBS virulence by preventing C5a from stimulating enhanced killing of the bacteria by phagocytes (39, 139, 298).

Binding of factor H by GBS

Several strains of GBS serotypes Ia, Ib, II and V express the β protein (also called Bac), which was originally identified by its capacity to bind IgA (271). The β protein binds to the Fc part of serum IgA but not to secretory IgA (191). The physiological basis for this is not clear. Recently, the β protein was also shown to bind FH (11). The expression of β elicits the production of protective antibodies (29).



Figure 7. A schematic structure of the GBS β protein. The regions known to be needed for IgA and factor H binding are shown. The numbers indicate amino acids at the start and end of regions. Abbreviations: S, signal peptide; XPZ, the XPZ proline-rich region; C, C-terminal region.

The β protein is a 125 kDa surface protein (271). The N-terminal signal peptide is followed by a region containing the IgA-binding site, consisting of amino acids 153-225 (Fig. 7). The C-terminal half of the β protein contains a region called XPZ, which consists of 30-50 repeats of a unique periodic sequence in which every third amino acid is a proline (133). The size of the β protein varies slightly between strains depending on the number of repeating

XPZ motifs (10). The actual role of the XPZ region is not known. Similarly to pneumococcal Hic and M-proteins of GAS, the C-terminus of β is anchored to the cell wall peptidoglycan via an LPXTG motif (133). Sequence-based analysis of the secondary structure predicts that the β protein is mainly α -helical except in the XPZ region (133). There are no cysteines in the β protein which suggests a fibrillar structure. The β protein thus emerges as an additional filamentous FH-binding protein on the surface of a grampositive coccus.

Neisseria meningitidis

Neisseria meningitidis (meningococcus) is a gram-negative aerobic diplococcus belonging to the family of *Neisseriaceae*. Human beings are the only natural hosts of meningococci. Meningococci cause sepsis and meningitis, and more rarely, conjunctivitis, sinusitis, arthritis and pneumonia (267). The annual incidence of meningococcal disease in the general population is 1-3 per 100 000 in Western Europe and in the USA (319). In Sub-Saharan Africa, in the so-called meningitis belt, the disease incidence may reach 1 000 per 100 000 (319). Meningococci are spread by direct mucosal contact and via aerosols for a distance of up to 1 meter (319).

Another pathogenic neisserial species is *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* (gonococcus), the causative agent of gonorrhea. As with meningococci, humans are the only natural hosts of gonococci. In addition to gonorrhea, gonococci can cause conjunctivits, pharyngitis, arthritis and, rarely, a systemic disease. Infection is transmitted by direct, usually sexual contact. Neonates can be infected during birth. Most other neisserial species, e.g. *N. lactamica*, *N. sicca*, *N. cinerea* and *N. subflava*, are commensal inhabitants of the nasopharynx and very seldom cause disease.

Polysaccharide capsule

Meningococci are divided into 13 serogroups (A, B, C, E-29, H, I, K, L, M, W135, X, Y, Z) according to the structure of their capsular polysaccharide. Of the 13 serogroups, 5 (A, B, C, W135 and Y) cause over 90% of clinical diseases (267, 319). Of these, serogroups B and C, and increasingly also Y,

are the most important ones in industrialized countries. Serogroups A and C dominate in Asia and Africa (319).

The expression of the polysaccharide capsule is a prerequisite for the survival of meningococci in the circulation. The capsule offers protection against C-mediated lysis and phagocytosis by neutrophils (170). The polysaccharide capsule of serogroup B and C meningococci consists of homopolymers of sialic acid (192). In group B meningococci, the sialic acids are linked in an α -(2 \rightarrow 8) manner to the linear polysaccharide (31). Similar α -(2 \rightarrow 8) linked oligomers of sialic acid have been identified in the gangliosides of human fetal brain tissue (100). Therefore, serogroup B polysaccharide is poorly immunogenic in humans (349).

The lipo-oligosaccharide of meningococci

The lipo-oligosaccharides (LOS) are major components of the meningococcal outer membrane (Fig. 8). They resemble in structure the lipopolysaccharide (LPS) of *Enterobacteriaceae* but lack the repeating *O*-antigen-bearing polysaccharides and thus present the rough variety (279). The LOS made by different species of *Neisseriae* are structurally similar. The LOS contains a terminal lactosamine structure, lacto-N-neotetraose (LNnT) (157). The α -2,3-sialyltransferase terminally links sialic acid to the LNnT residue of neisserial LOS (113, 197, 198). Serogroup B and C meningococci can sialylate their LOS endogenously, while gonococci require exogenous sialic acid e.g. from blood or genital secretions (9, 198).

Outer membrane proteins

The principal outer membrane proteins of meningococci are divided into 5 classes (class 1-5) according to their apparent molecular weights (309).

Class 1 proteins

Class 1 proteins, together with the class 2/3 proteins, are porins, which are the most abundant proteins present in the outer membrane of meningococci (Fig. 8). Porins do not undergo antigenic shift during infection. However, differences are seen between strains (20, 204). Porins are present in the outer membrane of meningococci as trimers and function as pores (126). They are considered essential for bacterial survival as they modulate the exchange of ions between the bacterium and the surroundings (126).

Class 1 protein or porin A (PorA) is an approximately 42 kDa product of the *porA* gene (18). PorA has been proposed to consist of 16 transmembrane regions and 8 surface-exposed loops protruding from the bacterial surface (318). The transmembrane areas contain β -sheets which form a typical β -barrel porin structure (74, 318). PorA is highly selective for cations (287, 308). The antigenic diversity among PorA is the basis for serosubtyping of meningococci. However, the sequence variation is mainly confined to two variable regions called VR1 and VR2, and the rest of the protein is highly conserved (203). VR1 is situated on the first surface-exposed loop and VR2 on the fourth loop (318).



Figure 8. A schematic presentation of the meningococcal surface. Outer membrane proteins are divided in five classes of which porins (class 1-3) are the most abundant proteins.

Meningococcus is the only known neisserial species that expresses PorA. Gonococcus has a *porA* gene, which, however, is not expressed (95). PorA is expressed by most clinical isolates of meningococci but its level of expression varies (314, 315, 317). The variability in expression is due to e.g. point mutations in the coding region or even to the deletion of the gene (314, 315).

Class 2 and 3 proteins

Class 2 and 3 proteins are encoded for by different alleles of the same gene, *porB* (141). Their expression is thus mutually exclusive, i.e. one meningococcal strain expresses either class 2 (PorB2) or class 3 (PorB3) protein. The primary structure similarity between PorB2 and PorB3 is 60-70%. The average molecular weight for PorB2 is appr. 37 kDa and for PorB3 34 kDa. Structurally, PorB consists of a similar β -barrel with transmembrane regions and surface-exposed loops as PorA (215, 216, 318). Interestingly, PorB3 is totally resistant to a number of proteases and therefore it has been suggested that its surface-exposed loops are only minimally exposed (215). PorB2 and PorB3 are homologous to the gonococcal PorB1B and PorB1A, respectively (74). The interstrain antigenic variation of meningococcal PorB is used to define serotypes of meningococci.

Class 4 and 5 proteins

The class 4 protein is also called reduction modifiable protein (Rmp) because its mobility in SDS-PAGE changes after reduction (from 24 to 32 kDa) (174, 195). It is highly conserved (99% sequence identity) in all serogroups of meningococci and homologous to the gonococcal protein III (174). Antibodies formed against the class 4 protein do not seem to be bactericidal or opsonic against meningococci and structural studies indicate that no substantial portion of class 4 protein is exposed on the microbial surface (120, 265).

Class 5 proteins are trimeric in structure and their apparent molecular weight is 27 kDa. They are subdivided into Opc and opacity (Opa) proteins. Both Opa and Opc proteins are hypervariable and undergo antigenic shift even during infection (4, 165, 306, 345). A single strain may express no, one or several class 5 proteins (292). Opa proteins are expressed by both meningococci and gonococci. Instead, Opc proteins are expressed only by meningococci (3). Both Opa and Opc proteins are involved in the attachment of meningococci to epithelial cells in the early stages of disease (320, 321).

Pili

Gonococcal and meningococcal strains of *Neisseriae* express on their surface filamentous structures that are called pili (291). Pili protrude through the

capsule and mediate adhesion of the bacteria to epithelial and endothelial cells (251, 290). MCP (CD46) has been shown to be the cellular receptor for neisserial pili (167). Pili undergo phase variation and there are considerable antigenic intra- and interstrain differences (306). Pili can also undergo sequence variation during infection (273, 306).

Meningococcal vaccines

There is an efficient tetravalent polysaccharide vaccine against meningococcal serogroups A, C, W135 and Y in clinical use. However, the capsular polysaccharide of serogroup B consists of the α -(2 \rightarrow 8) sialic acid homopolymers, which are identical to the sialic acid on human fetal neural tissue (99, 100). Thus, polysaccharide vaccines against serogroup B meningococci are not immunogenic enough and vaccine research in this field is concentrating on developing a protein vaccine against group B meningococci.

Meningococcal disease

Meningococci frequently colonize the nasopharynx of healthy, asymptomatic persons (7, 56, 116). Up to 20 to 40% of young adults are transient carriers of meningococci (7). Small children are seldom meningococcal carriers. Even though most contacts with meningococci lead only to an asymptomatic carrier state, some people get a systemic, life-threatening infection. It is estimated that only 1 % of people carrying a virulent strain get a symptomatic meningococcal infection (56). The mortality rate of meningococcal meningitis is 1-12% and of meningococcal sepsis 20-40% (266, 319). About 20% of survivors suffer from permanent sequelae, e.g. sensorineural deafness, mental retardation or have to undergo limb amputation because of skin necrosis (83, 319). Half of the deaths occur in the acute phase of the infection, during the first 24 hours after the onset of symptoms (319). Meningococci can sometimes cause a persistent meningococcemia with mild symptoms (319).

During infection meningococci release endotoxin within outer membrane vesicles (OMV; also called blebs). OMVs consist of LOS, outer membrane proteins, lipids and capsular polysaccharides (75). LOS is one of the major factors that induces the host response during systemic infection. Endotoxins induce pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokine production and activate the

complement system, the contact system and the kallikrein-bradykinin system (319). High cytokine concentrations correlate with the severity of the developing shock (329). Both pro-inflammatory (e.g. TNF, IL-1 β , IL-6) and anti-inflammatory cytokines (e.g. IL-10, IL-12) are released.

Meningococcal disease is characterized by petechiae, pin-head sized hemorrhages in the skin. In fulminant sepsis, the petechiae may coalesce into large necrotic areas. Microscopically, these lesions consist of endothelial damage, hemorrhages around small vessels and microthrombi in the vessels. There is a major change in the permeability of the vascular endothelium due to the inflammatory process induced by meningococci (171, 239, 245). This leads to loss of fluid in the tissues, diminished venous return and, consequently, the cardiac output falls. The compensatory vasoconstriction is a contributing factor to thrombosis within the microvasculature. The coagulation pathway is activated in meningococcal sepsis and the anticoagulant and fibrinolytic pathways are not functioning properly, for reasons not totally understood (42, 102). The plasma levels of the anticoagulant proteins antithrombin, protein C and protein S are all reduced (89). The dysfunction of the protein C activation pathway seems to be critical in the development of thrombosis in meningococcal sepsis (86, 89). The thrombotic events can ultimately result in tissue necrosis.

Complement and meningococci

The reasons why some individuals acquire a life-theatening meningococcal infection and others remain carriers are still obscure. The difference does not depend solely on the infecting strain, even though some strains are considered to be more virulent than others. The host immune defense system is one of the deciding factors why some individuals get an invasive meningococcal disease while others remain asymptomatic carriers of the pathogen.

The nasopharyngeal carriage of meningococci induces the production of protective antibodies, even with some cross-protection between strains (115, 116, 259). Small children are rarely colonized with meningococci. However, cross-protective antibodies can also be produced after contact with apathogenic neisseriae, common commensal organisms of the oro-

nasopharynx of children, or with antigenically cross-reacting enteric bacteria (114, 118, 164).

The complement system is essential in the defense against meningococci. Individuals deficient in the components of the alternative or terminal C pathway are at an increased risk of acquiring neisserial infections. Unusual meningococcal serogroups are often encountered in C deficient patients (96-98, 268). It is estimated that individuals with deficiencies of late C components have a 1000-10 000 –fold increased risk of meningococcal infection and the recurrency risk is 50-60% (96). However, the mortality rates for individuals deficient in late C components are lower than for the normal population (96, 268). The milder course of disease is possibly due to the fact that C activation could be responsible for many of the symptoms during fulminant meningococcal disease. In contrast, properdin-deficient individuals have a high fatality rate (30-50%) but only a low risk of recurrent infections (96, 285). This difference is probably due to the importance of MAC formation in the clearance of meningococci by the host immune system.

Complement, however, plays a dual role in meningococcal infections. An undisputed fact is that C is important in the defense against meningococci but, on the other hand, C activation is partially responsible for the symptoms during acute meningococcal infections (41, 129, 319). Complement activation results in an increase of the anaphylatoxin C3a and C5a levels, which in concert with activation products of the bradykinin system contribute to the endothelial damage, vasodilatation and capillary leakage. The level of C activation correlates with the severity of shock during meningococcal infection and also with the plasma levels of LOS (41, 129). C activation takes place not only on the meningococcal surface, but also on the released OMVs. Thus, C activation does not effectively lead to bacterial lysis. Lipopolysaccharides (and LOS) are potent activators of the C system (76, 106). However, the meningococcal outer membrane proteins may be even more potent C activators than meningococcal LOS (32). Both AP and CP are involved in C activation (40, 129). However, the relative importance of these pathways is not clear, nor do we understand how meningococci evade C attack and manage to cause disease.

Of the meningococcal C evasion factors, the capsule is thought to be the most important. The capsule offers protection against C-mediated lysis and phagocytosis by neutrophils (170). In group B meningococci, the capsule consists of sialic acid and also LOS is endogenously sialylated (192, 198). In gonococci, the sialylation of LOS correlates with serum resistance (341). In 1987, it was shown that both the sialic acid capsule and the sialylation of LOS in serogroup B meningococci inhibited the activation of AP in vitro (153). In 1994, Hammerschmidt et al. demonstrated that only LOS sialylation contributed to the protection of group B meningococci against AP activation (123). By comparing a group B meningococcus wild type strain, a nonencapsulated mutant and a *galE* mutant where LOS is truncated and not sialylated Vogel et al. argued that sialylation of both the capsule and LOS are indispensable for gonococcal serum resistance (323). However, when they used an *lst* mutant, which only lacks the terminal sialic acid of LOS, of the same parental strain, they found that this mutation did not affect the serum resistance of meningococci (322). Thus, in the presence of sialylated capsule, the lack of terminal sialic acid of LOS is not critical but mutation leading to the truncation of LOS (galE) is detrimental for the meningococcal virulence. These, somewhat conflicting, data indicate that although important factors have been identified on the surface of meningococci, the mechanisms how they mediate C resistance have remained open.

Aims

The general aim of this thesis work was to analyze factors that inhibit complement by regulating the activities of the complement C3 convertases on the surfaces of important pathogenic bacteria. The focus was on proteins that bind soluble C regulators and help the bacteria to avoid C-mediated opsonophagocytosis or direct lysis.

The specific aims were:

- 1. to examine the role of CRP as a regulator of complement activation (I, II)
- 2. to characterize the interactions of the C regulator factor H with the bacterial C evasion molecules: pneumococcal Hic and the group B streptococcal β (II, III)
- 3. to study the complement resistance mechanisms of *Neisseria meningitidis* (IV)

Materials and Methods

The materials and methods used in this study are listed in Table 3 and are described in more detail in the respective studies. The principal methods are briefly described below.

Methods	Used in		
Bichinonic acid (BCA) protein concentration			
determination assay	I, II, III		
Cloning and expression of SCR constructs	III		
Cofactor assay for C3b and C4b inactivation	I, II, IV		
Direct binding of radiolabeled proteins to microbes	II, III, IV		
ELISA for C activation and opsonization	II		
Flow cytometry analysis of opsonophagocytosis	II		
Iodine (¹²⁵ I) labeling of proteins	I, II, III, IV		
Microtiter plate binding assay	I, II		
Peptide mapping of binding sites	III, IV		
Opsonophagocytosis assay	II		
Radioligand binding assay	II		
Serum bactericidal assay	IV		
SDS-PAGE	I, II, III, IV		
Surface plasmon resonance analysis	I, II, III		

Fable 3. Laboratory	methods used	in studies I-IV
----------------------------	--------------	-----------------

Abbreviations: SCR, short consensus repeat; ELISA, enzyme-linked immunoadsorbent assay; C, complement; SDS-PAGE, sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis.

Recombinant FH constructs (Fig. 9) were used to localize the binding sites for CRP and microbes on FH. The FH constructs were produced using the baculovirus or the *Pichia pastoris* yeast expression system.



Figure 9. The recombinant constructs of factor H used in studies I-III. The constructs used were produced using the baculovirus expression system (SCR1-5, 1-6, 1-7, 8-20, 8-11 and 15-20) or the Pichia yeast expression system (SCR11-15 and 12-14). All constructs have a poly-Histidine tag. The heparin and C3b binding sites on FH and the constructs are marked. The decay accelerating (DA) and cofactor (CA) activities of FH are located at the N-terminal SCRs 1-4.

The surface plasmon resonance analysis (Biacore®2000 or Biacore®3000 equipment, Biacore AB, Uppsala, Sweden) was one of the main methods used to study direct protein-protein interactions in studies I-III. The appropriate proteins were coupled to the sensor chip flow cells and the putative ligand was injected onto to the flowcell. The binding interaction was monitored real-time and evaluated using the BiaEvaluation 2.0 or 3.0 software. The surface plasmon resonance analysis was used to study CRP – FH, pneumococcal Hic – FH and streptococcal β -protein – FH interactions (I-III). The Biacore® equipment was employed for localization of the binding regions on FH and for studying the effects of e.g. heparin on the binding.

The pneumococcal strains were obtained from Dr. Lars Björck (Lund University, Sweden), the group B streptococcal strains from Prof. Gunnar Lindahl (Lund University) and the meningococcal strains from Dr. Sanjay Ram (Boston University, MA, USA). The strains are shortly described in Table 4 and in more detail in the respective studies (II-IV).

Table 4. Bacterial strains. A more detailed description of the strains used is found in the respective studies.

Pneumococcal strains	(study II)
HB565	encapsulated, Hic-positive
PR218	nonencapsulated, Hic-positive
FP13	nonencapsulated, Hic-negative
GBS strains (study III)	
A909	type Ia, expressing β
Δbac	β-negative mutant of A909
$\Delta bac/pLZbac$	trans-complemented strain
Bac∆435-788	deletion mutant of β
Bac∆XPZ	deletion mutant of β
Bac∆879-1064	deletion mutant of β
Meningococcal strains	(study IV)*
H44/76	wild type serogroup B, capsule +, LOS sialic acid +
H44/76 lst	capsule +, LOS sialic acid -
H44/76 siaD	nonencapsulated, LOS sialic acid +
H44/76 lst/siaD	nonencapsulated, LOS sialic acid -

*In addition, PorA and PorB negative mutants of the above described four strains were used.

Abbreviations: GBS, group B streptococci; LOS, lipo-oligosaccharide.

A direct binding assay using whole microbes and radiolabeled proteins was used to analyze the binding of C components to microbes (II-IV). Microbes were grown in appropriate broths, washed and the concentrations were adjusted according to the assay used. FH, recombinant constructs of FH, BSA, C4bp or recombinant constructs of C4bp were labeled with ¹²⁵iodine using the Iodogen method (274). Microbes were incubated with ¹²⁵I-labeled C components for 30 min at 37°C. After incubation, the microbe-protein suspension was centrifuged through 20% sucrose to separate microbes and microbe-bound proteins (pellet) from unbound protein (supernatant). The sucrose tubes were quickly frozen and cut in two parts and radioactivities in both parts were measured with the γ -counter. Binding was calculated as the

percentage of bound radioactive protein (counts in pellet) vs. total counts (pellet + supernatant). This binding assay was used to study direct binding of FH, C4bp, BSA and recombinant constructs of FH and C4bp to microbes (II-IV). The direct binding assay was also used to study the effects of heparin, CRP, antibodies or unlabeled proteins on the binding of C components.

The C3b or C4b cofactor assays were used to study the effect of CRP on FH function or the functional activity of microbe-bound C regulators FH and C4bp (I-IV). FH acts as a cofactor for factor I-mediated cleavage of C3b, and C4bp is a cofactor for factor I in the cleavage of C4b, and also of C3b (104, 224, 243, 343). The effect of CRP on FH function was studied by incubating FH, factor I and radiolabeled C3b in the presence of varying amounts of CRP (I). After incubation the samples were run in an SDS-PAGE gel under reducing conditions. Cleavage of C3b was detected by autoradiography. To study the functional activity of surface-bound C regulators, microbes were incubated with purified FH or C4bp or heatinactivated normal human serum (II-IV). After washing the microbes to remove unbound proteins, factor I and C3b or C4b were added and the incubation was continued at 37°C. Cleavage of radiolabeled C3b and C4b was analyzed by SDS-PAGE and autoradiography. If the C regulator (FH or C4bp) was bound to the microbial surface and not removed by washing, C3b or C4b, respectively, should have become cleaved. In controls, the effect of each of the reagents was tested by leaving them out from the incubation mixtures.

Results and Discussion

Regulation of alternative pathway activation by CRP (I)

CRP is an acute phase reactant but its physiological role has remained controversial. Is it required in antimicrobial defense or does it have a homeostatic role during tissue injury and inflammation? CRP binds C1q and activates the CP (325). However, CP activation by CRP does not lead to activation of the terminal pathway (24). Instead, activation leads to the deposition of C3b which is inactivated to iC3b. Previous studies have suggested that CRP inhibits the AP activation, and it has been shown in our laboratory earlier that CRP binds FH (12, 218). However, the functional consequences of this binding had not been analyzed.

By using surface plasmon resonance and microtiter plate analyses it was found that CRP indeed bound FH, and also, vice versa, FH bound to immobilized CRP. With the help of recombinant fragments of FH, two binding sites on FH were recognized: one at SCR7 and a second one within SCRs 8-11. Due to the lability of the SCR11-15 fragment produced in the baculovirus expression system, a third binding site within this region could not be totally excluded. At the time of the experiments we unfortunately did not have access to the Pichia expression system and the more stable middle fragments of FH. The binding reaction between SCR7 of FH and CRP was dose-dependently inhibited by heparin which suggests that the heparin and CRP binding sites on SCR7 at least partially overlap. The binding between SCRs 8-11 and CRP was less affected by heparin. The second heparin binding site on FH is located around SCR13 and its nearness may affect the interaction. CRP did not inhibit the cofactor activity of FH but it had a weak inhibitory effect on the binding of FH to C3b.

These results can explain the previous findings of AP inhibition by CRP. CRP binds to damaged cell membranes and activates complement by binding C1q (325, 327). At the same time, there is a constant deposition of C3b on the target. Factor H affinity for surfaces of injured cells may be diminished by the loss of the integrity of the cell membrane and possible loss of glycosaminoglycans. Uninhibited C activation causes more inflammation and more tissue damage. This vicious circle can be kept in control if CRP acts as a linking bridge between the injured cell and FH (Fig. 10). Factor H bound to CRP remains functionally active, regulates activation of the amplification loop and C activation is inhibited at the C3b level. This is in accordance with the earlier data that C activation initiated by CRP is stopped at the C3b level (24).



Figure 10. The proposed function of CRP on surface of a damaged cell. Both CRP and C1q are capable of binding directly to damaged cell membranes. CP activation leads to the deposition of C3b on the surface. FH and FHL-1 bind to CRP and the activation of the AP amplification loop is inhibited and C3b is inactivated to iC3b. iC3b is recognized by the CR3 receptor of macrophages and the damaged cell is phagocytosed. Abbreviations: FI, factor I; FH, factor H; FHL-1, factor H-like protein 1; CR3, complement receptor 3; CP, classical pathway; AP, alternative pathway.

CRP and C1q-initiated activation of the CP are presumed to be involved in the removal of apoptotic cells (109, 214). According to our results and previous results by others, the presence of CRP makes it possible for FH to function. CRP binds directly to apoptotic cell membranes and enhances CP activation on the cell surface but the presence of CRP prevents the assembly of MAC (109). This function of CRP required the presence of C1q and FH. When FH is available, C3b becomes inactivated to iC3b which is a ligand for the macrophage CR3 receptor (Fig.10). It has been shown that binding and phagocytosis via macrophage CR3-receptor do not cause leukotriene release or a respiratory burst and can actually downregulate the production of IL-12 and interferon- γ by macrophages (6, 346, 352). Thus, the inflammatory response is kept under control and excessive tissue damage can be prevented. We thus suggest that the main function of CRP is to focus the clearance activity of CP and to restrict unnecessary tissue damage by directing FH to the site of injury and acting as link between FH and cell surfaces. Thereby, C activation and focused waste clearance would be regulated without excessive inflammation.

Pneumococci, group B streptococci and factor H (II, III)

Pneumococci and GBS are pathogens of world-wide significance. In general, in order for a microbe to be a pathogen, it needs to evade C activation. However, the C evasion mechanisms of both pneumococci and GBS are still incompletely understood. Some pneumococcal proteins have been shown to have an effect on complement activation (PspA and PspC proteins and pneumolysin) (152, 247, 313). The over 90 serotypes and the straindependent variation within serotypes make it difficult to generalize findings from one strain to other strains. Furthermore, pneumococci utilize phase variation (336). The expression of several surface antigens depends on the phase, whether colonizing or invasive (264). Many factors have been shown to be important for virulence, and deletion of many of them has rendered the pneumococci avirulent. However, several studies have convincingly shown that the alternative and the classical pathway are of crucial importance in the elimination of pneumococci, and the ability of pneumococci to evade complement attack is probably one of the key reasons behind the pathogenicity of this extremely important group of bacteria (50, 144, 150, 350).

The PspC-protein of serogroup 3 pneumococci (Hic) was shown to bind FH and later Dave et al. showed that FH bound also to serotype 2 PspC but not to PspA (70, 152). In both studies, the PspC-negative pneumococci did not bind FH to their surfaces. Earlier, Neeleman et al. had shown that the inhibition of complement activation and phagocytosis in serotype 3 pneumococci was mediated by binding of FH (229). Binding was inhibited by trypsin pretreatment of the bacteria. Putative FH-binding proteins were identified by immunoblotting experiments. The sizes of these proteins in SDS-PAGE were 88, 150 and 196 kDa. As the sizes of PspC. Neeleman

et al. also studied the FH binding to serotype 3 pneumococci by immunoelectron microscopy (229). They detected two basic modes of FHbinding to the pneumococcal cell wall. FH was seen either directly adjacent to the outer surface of the cell wall or in association with projections extending from the cell wall. The C3b degradation pattern observed by Hostetter et al. on serotype 3 and 4 pneumococci is consistent with the pattern observed when C3b is cleaved by factor I with FH as a cofactor (146). Therefore, this degradation could be explained by FH-binding proteins on the pneumococcal surface.

The interactions between pneumococcal Hic and factor H

The above findings warranted further studies on the interactions of pneumococcal PspC proteins and factor H. We wanted to characterize the Hic-FH binding reaction in more detail and also to study whether this interaction had any significance for the pneumococcal virulence. For the binding assays, we used Hic-positive and -negative pneumococcal strains, recombinant Hic-GST and Hic proteins and recombinant fragments of FH.

Radiolabeled whole FH bound to Hic-positive pneumococci but not to Hicnegative bacteria. However, even a stronger binding was seen using the radiolabeled SCR8-20 fragment, while SCR1-7 did not bind to any of the strains tested. The strong binding seen with SCR8-20 can be explained by the better exposure of the Hic-binding sites on the SCR8-20 fragment than on the whole FH, which has been proposed to have a convoluted structure (13). The binding site on FH was further mapped to SCRs 8-11 and, later, a second binding site was identified on SCRs 12-14. Using a microtiter plate inhibition assay, we had concluded that the SCR8-11 site is the main binding region. However, after obtaining the SCR11-15 and SCR12-14 recombinant fragments of FH we could show with surface plasmon resonance analysis that there is also this second, but a weaker binding site for Hic on FH.

Also CRP binds to the SCR8-11 region but CRP did not affect the binding of SCR8-20 to Hic-positive pneumococci. Interestingly, however, CRP increased the binding of SCR8-20 to Hic-negative pneumococci in the presence of calcium. Thus, it seems that by binding to the pneumococcal C-polysaccharide, CRP can act as a link between PspC-negative pneumococci and FH. In this way, pneumococci could have a double mechanism to evade AP activation – direct binding of FH via the PspC protein and non-direct

binding of FH by using CRP as a linker. It was shown in the early 1980's that CRP increased the interaction of FH and C3b on pneumococcal surface and the AP activation was thus suppressed (218, 219). The fact that phosphorylcholine in pneumococci is usually hidden underneath the capsule means that CRP may bind more avidly to damaged pneumococci than to viable bacteria (72). We also tested the effect of phosphorylcholine on the SCR8-11 – CRP interaction. Phosphorylcholine (10-1000 μ g/ml) did not inhibit the binding CRP to SCR8-11 (Jarva et al., unpublished). This suggests that CRP can bind to both pneumococci and factor H at the same time.

Functional activity of pneumococcus-bound factor H

In the C3b cofactor assay, the ability of the Hic-bound FH to act as a cofactor for factor I-mediated cleavage of C3b was studied. Even when the concentration of FH in the reaction mixture was as low as 0.1 µg/ml (compared with the serum level of 500 µg/ml), Hic-positive pneumococci were able to bind enough FH on their surfaces for C3b to become cleaved. The same could be seen using 0.5% serum. The cofactor activity seen after incubation of the bacteria in serum was inhibited by polyclonal anti-FH antibody, suggesting that the cofactor activity seen was explicitly due to FH. Using an ELISA assay, we could confirm that C3b became more efficiently inactivated to iC3b on Hic-positive pneumococci, again indicating the functional activity of FH bound to Hic. The effect of Hic on the ability of pneumococci to evade opsonophagocytosis was studied by FACS and by immunofluorescence microscopy by counting the number of pneumococci phagocytosed by polymorphonuclear leukocytes (Fig. 11). Hic-negative pneumococci were phagocytosed more readily than Hic-positive pneumococci. Thus, we postulate that the Hic-FH interaction is a C evasion and virulence mechanism of pneumococci.

Even though there is considerable strain-dependent variation between PspCproteins, the initial studies by Janulczyk et al. showed that pneumococcal strains of several serotypes bound FH (152). Also, the results of others showed that at least serotype 2 PspC protein was also capable of binding of FH, and that the binding region on FH is located to SCRs 13-15 (70, 81). We have also screened dozens of clinical strains and found putative FH-binding proteins in most invasive pneumococcal strains (Jarva et al., unpublished). We can not, of course, exclude that pneumococci express several FH-binding proteins. So far, however, FH-binding has been shown only for PspC.



Figure 11. The effect of Hic on the opsonophagocytosis of pneumococci. Equal amounts of Hic-positive (strain PR218) and Hic-negative (FP13) pneumococci were incubated with 0-25% normal human serum and then with freshly isolated polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMN). The cells were washed and transferred to object slides using a cytospin centrifuge. The slides were stained either with acridine orange or gram-stain and the number of attached/ingested bacteria per the number of PMN was counted.

The use of PspC-family proteins as vaccines

The PspC protein family is so polymorphic that it may not seem like an optimal vaccine candidate. However, the variability between proteins is generated by the eight building domains within the N-terminal part of the molecule (147). Brooks-Walter et al. showed that immunization of rabbits with recombinant PspC elicited cross-protective antibodies also to PspA and conferred immune protection against pneumococcal bacteremia (49). The use of PspC as a vaccine needs further studies. In principle, inhibition of the interactions between PspC proteins and factor H by vaccine-induced antibodies could sensitize the respective pneumococci to complement-mediated opsonophagocytosis.

Characterization of the factor $H - \beta$ protein interaction

Interestingly, the C-terminal region of the β protein from GBS which was recently shown to bind FH shows some homology to Hic and other PspC proteins (Fig. 2 in III). The β protein was originally identified as an IgA-binding protein expressed by many strains of GBS (191, 271). On β , the

binding site for IgA has been located to a 73-amino acid region in the N-terminal half of the protein (133, 158). In contrast, the factor H-binding region was tentatively located to the C-terminal half of the β protein (11).

Recently, the genome of serotype V GBS was published (301). Gene synteny conservation was more marked between GBS and GAS than between GBS and pneumococci. Despite the relatedness of GAS and GBS genomes, there is no structural homologue for the β protein in GAS.

Knowing that Hic and the β protein are structurally related and both bind FH, we wanted to compare the FH-binding characteristics of these bacterial proteins. We studied the binding of FH and recombinant fragments of FH to GBS strains expressing and not expressing β and also a set of strains where mutations in the β protein spanned the C-terminal region i.e. amino acids 435-1097. Binding studies were also performed with the purified β protein. Using a direct binding assay and surface plasmon resonance analysis, the β binding site on FH was mapped to SCRs 8-11 and to SCRs 12-14, i.e. to the same sites where Hic was found to bind earlier. The binding of the β protein to SCR11-15 was only weakly inhibited by heparin. In order to study whether Hic and β bind to overlapping sites on FH, we tried to look at the possible inhibitory effect of β on the binding of SCR8-11 and SCR11-15 to Hic. However, due to the small amounts of protein we were able to reach only equimolar concentrations of β and of the FH fragments, and no inhibitory effect at this level could be seen. Thus, whether Hic and β bind to overlapping or only nearby sites in the middle region of FH remains uncertain. However, the slight differences in heparin inhibition suggest that the binding sites may differ in structure.

Localization of putative factor H-binding sites on the β protein and Hic

To localize the FH binding site on the β protein the GBS strains expressing mutants of β were used in direct binding assays to test the ability of radiolabeled SCR8-20 to bind to the bacteria. The primary binding region on the β protein was within amino acids 435-788, as the deletion of this region in β almost totally abolished the binding. A peptide spot analysis was used to further map putative binding sites on the β protein and also on Hic. For this analysis, we chose the regions in β and Hic known to be needed for FH binding. We could identify 5 putative binding sites for FH on β and 3 on Hic. Some of these sites are in the homologous regions of Hic and β . As the 3D-structures of these proteins have not been established yet, we can not be certain whether these regions come close together in the final conformation or whether they possibly are separate sites on a filamentous protein. However, based on computer analysis of the predicted secondary structures, both Hic and β are mainly of α -helical structure (133, 152). Also, there are no cysteine residues in Hic or β so no disulphide bridges can be formed. Therefore, it is probable that both proteins have a fibrillar or filamentous structure. If so, the FH-binding sites on β and Hic would be distributed along the filament. Thus several binding interactions between FH and β or Hic could take place and lead to enhanced avidity between FH and the microbial proteins.

Even though both GBS and pneumococci are classified as streptococci, the disease spectrum caused by them differs, and they represent distinct bacterial species. The result that Hic and β , proteins from two different bacterial species bind FH in an analogous manner, is a novel finding. This suggests that the expression of these FH-binding proteins has been conserved through evolution and that binding of FH is an important characteristic for the microbes in order to survive in the human host.

The use of the β protein as a vaccine

Analogously to pneumococcal PspC proteins, the β protein emerges as an attractive vaccine candidate. Antibodies directed against β would promote C activation and opsonophagocytosis and inhibit the acquisition of the C regulator FH onto the GBS surface. The β protein has been tested in a conjugate vaccine composed of GBS type III capsular polysaccharide coupled to β , which is not expressed by type III GBS (196). This vaccine elicited protective antibodies against the type III capsular polysaccharide and the β protein in mice. However, the β protein conjugate vaccines have not yet been tested in clinical trials.

Factor H (I-III)

Our studies on the interactions of CRP with factor H and the C evasion mechanisms of pneumococci and GBS led to the recognition of a novel binding region in the middle of FH. Previously, the SCR8-11 region of FH had no known ligands. Microbes have been shown to bind to SCR7 (M-

proteins of GAS, *C. albicans*) and to the C-terminus (OspE of *B. burgdorferi*, *C. albicans* and gonococcus) of FH (33, 136, 212, 254). All the three FHligands characterized in this study (CRP, Hic and β) had two binding sites on FH (Fig. 12). The presence of multiple binding sites on the extended structure of FH also emerges as a new concept from this study. It is likely that multiple binding sites ensure a high binding avidity. Since also the microbial proteins have elongated structures (possibly coiled-coils) one can envisage that the binding partners align longitudinally with each other.



Figure 12. CRP, Hic and β -protein binding sites on factor H recognized in this study. The three binding sites for C3b and for heparin (++) are marked above the circles that represent the 20 SCR domains of factor H.

C4bp and meningococci (IV)

Neisseria meningitidis is an important and feared cause of meningitis and sepsis. In industrialized countries, serogroup B is one of the most common serogroups isolated (267, 319). Mass vaccinations are not a practice and the present vaccines in use, which are all directed against capsular polysaccharides, are not protective against serogroup B meningococci. This is due to the poor immunogenicity of serogroup B capsular polysaccharide. The latter has structural homology with fetal neural tissues in humans (99, 100). Therefore, the goal now is to develop vaccines directed against non-capsular antigens of meningococci. Thus, the non-capsular meningococcal virulence factors are of significant interest.

Complement is essential in the host defense against meningococci. This is underlined by the fact that individuals deficient of AP or terminal pathway components have an increased risk of recurrent meningococcal infections (96). Deficiencies of the CP components do not usually predispose to neisserial infections. It seems that AP is needed to reject meningococci while meningococci themselves are able to avoid CP. Therefore, we wanted to examine the mechanisms by which meningococci evade CP activation. It had previously been shown that both the AP and CP were activated in meningococcal infection but the relative importance of the pathways is under dispute and probably depends on several factors.

Binding of C4bp to meningococci

Initially we looked at the direct binding of radiolabeled C4bp to 12 randomly chosen clinical isolates of meningococci representing serogroups A (n=2) and B (n=10). The binding of C4bp to the bacteria varied between 12 and 45% under the conditions used. This warranted further studies of the role of C4bp in C evasion by meningococci. Our aim was to locate the binding site for C4bp on the meningococcal surface, and to study whether this binding interaction has any significance in the survival of meningococci in humans. We used 12 serogroup B meningococcal strains with deletions or combinations of deletions of the capsule, LOS and the major outer membrane proteins PorA and PorB. In addition, we had C4bp purified from human plasma, recombinant C4bp with deletions of SCR domains and monoclonal antibodies raised against C4bp. By using the direct binding assay with radiolabeled C4bp we found that deletion of PorA significantly reduced the binding of C4bp to meningococci. Deletion of LOS had no effect on the binding, but the deletion of the polysaccharide capsule enhanced the binding of C4bp to meningococci. The capsule probably presents a steric hindrance, thus its removal increases the binding of C4bp to proteins underneath. The binding of C4bp to strains expressing both PorA and PorB increased from 19% to 38% when the capsule was deleted. However, in the absence of capsule, the binding of C4bp to the PorAnegative strain was also markedly increased to 21% compared to the 4% binding to the encapsulated strain. Thus, our data suggests that PorA is necessary for the binding, but there may be other factors involved which are exposed when the capsule is removed. These factors, however, are of questionable physiological significance since nonencapsulated meningococcal strains are only very rarely isolated from clinical samples. The capsule is thus considered a prerequisite for virulence.

The binding of radiolabeled C4bp to meningococcal strains was dosedependently inhibited by heparin and unlabeled C4bp but not by BSA. The results from the direct binding assays using recombinant mutants of C4bp with deletions of single SCR domains and from the inhibition assays with heparin and monoclonal antibodies suggested that the binding site for meningococcus on C4bp is located in SCRs 2 and 3 of the α -chain. The C4bp binding sites for heparin and C4b have been located to the α -chain SCRs 1-3. Thus, a critical question was whether the C4bp bound to meningococci could still bind C4b and exert its C regulatory functions. This was studied by the cofactor assays in which we examined the ability of meningococcus-bound C4bp to act as a cofactor for factor I in the cleavage of C4b and C3b. Indeed, meningococcus-bound C4bp was functionally active and both C4b and C3b became cleaved in the presence of factor I. This can be explained by the fact that C4bp has 7 α -chains, each of which functions individually. Whether a single α -chain of C4bp can bind simultaneously both C4b and meningococcus remains to be studied with monomeric constructs of the α -chains.

We used serum bactericidal assays to further confirm the physiological significance of the interaction between serogroup B meningococci and C4bp. These assays, however, are problematic as meningococci also bind FH and the deletion of PorA does not markedly affect the FH-meningococcus interaction (253, Jarva et al., unpublished). The approach was to compare the serum resistance of a strain expressing both PorA and PorB with a strain where PorA had been deleted. These pairs differed in their ability to bind C4bp but not FH. The PorA-positive strain survived better in 1%, 3% and 10% serum than the PorA-negative strain (Fig. 6 in IV and unpublished). For example, by using 10% serum, 25% of PorA-positive vs 87% of PorA-negative bacteria became killed at 60 minutes. This was most clearly seen with the strains not expressing LOS, which presumably is one of the binding targets for FH. Thus, C4bp-binding seems to play an important role in the C-evasion of meningococci.

Meningococcal PorA – C4bp interaction

On the basis of experiments using deletion mutants of meningococci, the putative target molecule for C4bp binding is PorA. To verify the C4bp-PorA interaction it would be necessary to directly demonstrate a protein-protein interaction. However, because PorA is an integral membrane protein (a porin) with 8 extracellular loops and 16 transmembrane segments, it is difficult to study the interaction directly at the protein level.

Our preparations of purified PorA and PorB were in a detergent solution, and could therefore not be used in the surface plasmon resonance analysis. Also, no binding of radiolabeled C4bp to PorA (or PorB) run into an SDS-PAGE gel and transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane could be detected. These results suggest that the binding of C4bp to PorA is dependent on conformation and proper orientation of the PorA protein on the outer membrane of the meningococcus.

In another approach, we used a peptide spot analysis with peptides representing the surface-exposed loops of meningococcal PorA and PorB and, for comparison, gonococcal Por1A and Por1B. Radiolabeled C4bp bound most strongly to PorA peptides representing loops 1 and 4, i.e. the variable loops (Fig. 13). The most prominent binding regions contained positively charged residues, lysines and arginines. However, the putative region on loop 4 was rich in alanine and valine, small hydrophobic amino acids. On the meningococcal surface, PorA forms trimers in which loops of each molecule come into contact with each other. Therefore, depending on the 3-dimensional conformation of the loops in the porin trimer, the putative binding sites could form 1-6 ligand sites for C4bp. The avidity of the binding interaction is further increased by the redundancy of binding sites on C4bp as each of the seven α -chains could bind to PorA independently.

PorA and meningococcal vaccines

Based on our current data and previous data from elsewhere, PorA emerges as an important virulence and C evasion factor of serogroup B meningococci. PorA has been a candidate in the development of meningococcal vaccines. Antibodies directed against PorA and PorB are produced after meningococcal infection (121, 122). In an animal model, only the bactericidal antibodies against PorA were protective against bacterial challenge (276). However, the expression of PorA is variable, although no antigenic variation during infection has been detected. Occasionally, meningococcal strains not expressing PorA have been isolated from clinical samples, and recently an epidemic (7 cases) with group C meningococci not expressing PorA was described (316). The sequence of PorA varies between strains but the variation is mainly confined to two surface-exposed loops, 1 and 4 (203). In our peptide spot analysis, the main binding region for C4bp appeared to be located on loop 1 and a secondary site was on loop 4. Interestingly, the main binding site on loop 1 was outside the variable area (Fig. 13). Therefore, antibodies against this conserved region of PorA could inhibit the binding of C4bp to the meningococcal surface and allow CP activation. Thus, our findings have potential significance for protein vaccine development against meningococci.



Figure 13. Folding model of PorA of serogroup B meningococcus H44/76. The top part of the model shows the surface-exposed loops, and the central part represents the transmembrane segments. The hypervariable regions in loops 1 and 4 are boxed. Bold letters: a putative C4bp binding site on loop 1. Amino acid residues in the transmembrane segments are shown alternating where they can form a β strand. Adapted from (318). Printed with the permission of the American Society for Microbiology.

C4bp – protein S complex and the pathogenesis of meningococcal disease

Fulminant meningococcal sepsis is characterized by hemorrhages, thrombosis in small vessels and, ultimately, disseminated intravascular coagulation. Procoagulant pathways are activated but the anticoagulant pathways are impaired (245). The plasma levels of the anticoagulant proteins antithrombin, protein C and protein S, and also of C4bp are reduced in meningococcal sepsis (89, 129). Endothelial damage and loss of endothelial

glycosaminoglycans, thrombomodulin and protein C receptor contribute to the dysfunction of the anticoagulant pathways (89, 171, 239).

As much as 70% of the anticoagulant protein S is in complex with C4bp and functionally inactive (66-69). Based on the results of this study, meningococci bind C4bp both with and without protein S. We don't yet know how much this affects the plasma levels of C4bp or whether the reduction of C4bp plasma levels is simply due to consumption of C4bp because of CP activation. Another question is whether the meningococcus-C4bp interaction has an impact on the plasma levels of free and active protein S. C4bp levels increase during the acute phase reaction (105, 288). During infection, more C4bp is released to circulation and complexed with protein S, whose production may not keep up with the rate of C4bp production. Therefore, the amount of free and active protein S would be decreased, and thus contribute to the dysfunction of the anticoagulant pathway. The possible effects of the meningococcus-C4bp-protein S interactions on the development of the severe disseminated intravascular coagulation syndrome typical for fulminant meningococcal sepsis warrant further studies.

Complement evasion in vivo

Animal models have been used to study the importance of CRP in the protection against pneumococcal infections and the virulence and C evasion mechanisms of pneumococci, group B streptococci and meningococci. However, CRP, which binds both pneumococci and factor H, is not an acute phase reactant in mice (175, 248). Models utilizing mice transgenic for human CRP are not necessarily relevant until it is shown that human CRP binds mouse C1q and factor H similarly as respective human proteins. Thus, the data concerning the role CRP in protection against pneumococcal infections obtained from the mouse models can not be extended to humans as such.

The results of current (II-IV) and earlier studies show clearly that C regulators are involved in the C evasion by pneumococci, GBS and meningococci. Mouse and rabbit models have been used in studies on pneumococci, and the infant rat model is widely used in meningococcal

immunization studies. However, a major disadvantage of these models is that the mouse, rabbit or rat C regulators may not behave similarly as the human C regulators and the binding of microbial proteins to these regulators could be species specific. For example, we could not detect binding of FH from mouse serum to pneumococci nor the binding of C4bp from rat serum to the wild type serogroup B meningococcal strain used in our studies (Jarva et al., unpublished). Thus, conclusions drawn from immunization studies and the role of complement evasion in animal models need to be treated with caution.

Complement evasion by pathogenic microbes (II-IV)

As has become apparent from the above, many pathogenic microbes utilize binding of C regulators for their own benefit. In general, microbial surfaces represent activator surfaces for the AP of C, and activation of C on them continues without restriction. By offering binding sites for factor H or C4bp the microbe can transform its role as a target C activator to a nonactivator (Fig. 14).



Figure 14. Bacterial evasion of complement by binding factor H. The pneumococcal Hic and B streptococcal β protein are predicted to have extended structures that project out from the cell wall. Both proteins bind FH. Factor H acts as a cofactor for factor I (I) and C3b becomes inactivated to iC3b both on the bacterial surface and in the nearby fluid-phase. Without Hic or β , FH would not bind to the bacterial surface and C activation would continue.

Conclusions and Summary

Complement has a role in the immune defense against invading microbes as well as in the clean-up of the body. CRP is a complement-related molecule involved in both roles. Many of CRP's functions are exerted through activation of the CP. However, while CRP activates the CP, it also regulates C activation at the C3b level via recruitment of FH. The structure of CRP (a pentraxin) has remained conserved through evolution. It is ubiquitous among mammalian species and no deficiencies are known. Microbial structures constantly evolve in response to host immune defense. If the main role of CRP was in the defense against microbes, it would require a capacity to adapt to changing invaders. The conservation of CRP suggests that its primary function is not in host defense but in host clean-up. In this function, CRP collaborates with complement. CRP binds to apoptotic cell membranes, activates the CP and binds FH to prevent C activation beyond the C3b stage. Upon the recruitment of FH, C3b becomes inactivated to iC3b, which is recognized by the CR3 receptor (CD11b/18) on phagocytes. Activation of CR3 leads to an anti-inflammatory type cytokine response, whereby an excessive inflammatory reaction and tissue damage is avoided. Results of this study thus support a new view of a purposeful role of CRP in the response to injury. CRP also reacts with pneumococci, but this is considered to be a secondary function. In fact, pneumococci could themselves utilize FH for their own benefit to avoid C attack.

The exploration of the virulence mechanisms of microbes helps us to understand how microbes evade the host's immune defense and learn more about immune mechanisms of the host. Ultimately, this will also help us to prevent infections. Microbes have survived on earth for over 3 billion years. Since the emergence of animal hosts the microbes have had a long time to develop ways to evade the immune defense mechanisms of their potential hosts. The C evasion mechanisms of pneumococci, GBS and meningococci examined in this study are analogous, yet different from one another. Serotype 3 pneumococcal Hic and group B streptococcal β protein bind the middle part of FH. Via the actions of surface-bound FH the bacteria are subsequentely able to avoid opsonophagocytosis. PorA surface protein of serogroup B meningococci seems to be required for binding of functionally active C4bp. Thus, we conclude that the binding of C regulators, either the AP inhibitor FH or the CP inhibitor C4bp, constitutes an important virulence mechanism of these three bacterial species.

In the course of the above described studies we identified three new ligands for SCRs 8-11 on FH. This region of FH has previously been considered "silent", with no known ligands or C regulatory functions. The results show that SCRs 8-11 have binding sites for CRP, pneumococcal Hic and B streptococcal β , and none of these ligands interferes with the C regulatory functions of FH. This middle region thus emerges as a novel functional region of FH.

One particular aspect in studying microbial evasion of complement and immune attack is the development of vaccines. The goal is to develop protein or conjugate vaccines, which would be immunogenic in infants, adults and in the elderly. The vaccines should elicit cross-protective antibodies. The complement evasion molecules of pneumococci, GBS and meningococci could be ideal protein components in conjugate vaccines. This is because the antibodies directed against the complement-binding proteins would not only recognize an outer surface component but they could also neutralize a virulence property.

Acknowledgments

This study was conducted at the Haartman Institute, Department of Bacteriology and Immunology, University of Helsinki. I want to thank Professor Seppo Meri and the acting Professor Risto Renkonen for providing excellent working facilities. I also want to thank all my past and present coworkers at Sero for creating such a nice atmosphere.

Seppo Meri has also been my supervisor who believed in me even in the beginning when I did not know how to use a pipette. Seppo has a vast knowledge of immunology and especially complement. He is also a good teacher and full of ideas, many of which are worth pursuing. I admire Seppo's ability to explain confusing results in a totally logical and believable manner. I have enjoyed and learned from the brain-storming sessions and the scientific and non-scientific discussions.

I am grateful for the reviewers of this thesis, Professor Markku Heikinheimo and Docent Markku Viander for their valuable and constructive comments.

I want to thank all my present and past coworkers in the Merilab. Juha Hakulinen was the first to take care of me when I started to work in Seppo's lab. He always has time to answer questions and discuss science and other things. I am grateful to Sakari Jokiranta, who has taught me many things in the lab. I also thank him for all the discussions and for sharing the responsibilities for many practical things. Taru Meri always has positive energy and lots of practical (and a few non-practical) ideas. I will always remember the long chats we had for making the world a better place. I thank Marjatta Ahonen for expert technical assistance and for taking care of the lab and us. For the last two years Jorma Tissari has shared the booth with me. He has been very patient with my constant mumbling. I appreciate his willingness to share his knowledge of all kinds of methods. Sami Junnikkala is always ready to help, in all matters. He has also given me the chance to practice medicine every now and then. I thank Markus Lehtinen for a nice collaboration and helpfulness. Antti Lavikainen is acknowledged for his amiable company. I also greatly appreciate his intellect and general knowledge. I thank Antti Alitalo, Zhu-Zhu Cheng, Antti Harjunpää, Mikko Seppänen, and Jari Suvilehto for pleasant collaborations and the nice moments in the lab. I thank the young ones (in alphabetical order): Marta Biedzka, Karita Haapasalo, Mikael Kajova, Vesa Kirjavainen, Annika Mattila, Rauna Tanskanen, Jasse Tiainen, Riikka Tulamo, and Johan Wadén. I have enjoyed working with them and their occasional questions have taught me a lot. I also want to acknowledge my coworkers Drs Vesa Koistinen, Timo Lehto, Antti Väkevä, Mervi Närkiö-Mäkelä, Riina Richardson, Jinghui Yang, and Tong Chen.

I am indebted to Docents Aaro Miettinen, Ilkka Seppälä, Pentti Kuusela and Risto Renkonen for having time to answer my endless questions and always being so nice and helpful. Riitta Väisänen from Aaro Miettinen's lab offered great assistance during these years. I thank Hannamari Välimaa, Anni Virolainen-Julkunen, Päivi Tissari and Petteri Arstila for their friendship and helpfulness in science, teaching and diagnostics. Rebecca Ormsby from Adelaide started out as a coworker but has become a good friend. Working with Bec was always pleasant. I thank Taina Jaatinen for her superb positive spirit on all occasions. I am always in a good mood after spending time with Bec or Taina.

I thank Monica Schoultz for her help with the FACS assays. I have truly enjoyed our friendly discussions. I thank Dr. Hilkka Lankinen, Rabah Soliymani, and Jussi Hepojoki for their assistance with the Biacore and for preparing the peptide spot membranes. Dr. Paula Kristo has been of expert assistance concerning any sequencing problems.

I thank the office ladies Marjatta Turunen, Kirsi Udueze, and Carina Wasström for their assistance in all kinds of things and friendliness and support during these years. I am thankful to Kyllikki Gerkman for the smooth and flexible organizing of the teaching sessions. I am obliged to Ilkka Vanhatalo for his ability to make computers work and his patience with stupid questions. I thank Aila Koponen for her invaluable help with the literature needed for this study. I am grateful for Kari Tuuli and Olavi Auvinen for making all the machines and practical things work so smoothly.

During this study, I spent altogether three months at the Hans Knöll Institute in Jena, Germany. I am grateful to Prof. Peter F. Zipfel and Dr. Jens Hellwage for that opportunity. I really enjoyed the factor H collaboration. The months spent in Jena were great fun, in addition to being scientifically productive. Jens has also helped me later in my projects with his knowledge of factor H and other things, and his sense of humor has saved me on many rainy (and sunny) days. I will always remember the friendliness and helpfulness of Misi Jozsi, Gerlinde Heckrodt, Tamara Manuelian, and Michael Hühn. I warmly thank Dr. Anna Blom from Malmö and Dr. Sanjay Ram from Boston for a pleasant and fruitful collaboration. I appreciate their help and encouragement. I have also had the pleasure to collaborate with Dr. Robert Janulczyk, Dr. Lars Björck, Dr. Thomas Areschoug, Prof. Gunnar Lindahl, Prof. Petri Kovanen, Dr. Markku Pentikäinen, Riina Oksjoki, Sanna Taskinen, Dr. Helena Käyhty, and Merit Melin during these years.

During these years I have also worked at the Departments of Bacteriology and Immunology and the Unit of Parasitology of the University Central Hospital Laboratory Diagnostics. I thank all the personnel working there for their help, friendliness and patience. I am especially indebted to Marita Sirén and Marjut Sirén for teaching me several complement assays. I am also grateful for Dr. Petteri Carlson for teaching me bacteriological diagnostics and Prof. Martti Vaara for ability and willingness to share his vast knowledge on bacteriology and providing me the first facilities for working with meningococci. The parasitology ladies are acknowledged for their kindness and friendliness: Päivi Hölsä, Seija Jouhtén, Sonja Kärki, Pia Mörsky, and Elisabet Tyyni.

I want to thank my parents and my sisters Helena and Kerttuli and my brother Antti and their families for support and patience. I am also most grateful for all my friends, especially Arja (who introduced the world of science to me), Tiina, Tiina and Eeva-Liisa. Without you I might have forgotten there is life outside the lab, too. Thank you for the encouragement and all the good times and laughs.

This study was financially supported by the Maud Kuistila foundation, the Finnish Society for Medicine (Duodecim), the Finnish Kidney Foundation, the Academy of Finland, the Sigrid Jusélius Foundation, the Helsinki University Central Hospital Funds, and the Complementum Ltd.

Helsinki, May 2004

Hanna Jarva

References

- 1. Abernethy, T. J., and O. T. Avery. 1941. The occurrence during acute infections of a protein not normally present in the blood. I. Distribution of the reactive protein in patients' sera and the effect of calcium on the flocculation reaction with C polysaccharide of pneumococcus. J. Exp. Med. 73:173-82.
- 2. Abramson, N., C. A. Alper, P. J. Lachmann, F. S. Rosen, and J. H. Jandl. 1971. Deficiency of C3 inactivator in man. *J. Immunol.* 107:19-27.
- Achtman, M., M. Neibert, B. A. Crowe, W. Strittmatter, B. Kusecek, E. Weyse, M. J. Walsh, B. Slawig, G. Morelli, A. Moll, and M. Blakes. 1988. Purification and characterization of eight class 5 outer membrane protein variants from a clone of *Neisseria meningitidis* serogroup A. J. Exp. Med. 168:507-25.
- 4. Achtman, M., R. A. Wall, M. Bopp, B. Kusecek, G. Morelli, E. Saken, and M. Hassan-King. 1991. Variation in class 5 protein expression by serogroup A meningococci during a meningitis epidemic. *J. Infect. Dis.* 164:375-82.
- 5. Adderson, E. E., S. Takahashi, and J. F. Bohnsack. 2000. Bacterial genetics and human immunity to group B streptococci. *Mol. Gen. Metab.* 71:451-4.
- 6. Aderem, A. A., S. D. Wright, S. C. Silverstein, and Z. A. Cohn. 1985. Ligated complement receptors do not activate the arachidonic acid cascade in resident peritoneal macrophages. *J. Exp. Med.* 161:617-22.
- 7. Andersen, J., L. Berthelsen, B. Bech Jensen, and I. Lind. 1998. Dynamics of the meningococcal carrier state and characteristics of the carrier strains: a longitudinal study within three cohorts of military recruits. *Epidemiol. Infect.* 121:85-94.
- 8. Angel, C. S., M. Ruzek, and M. K. Hostetter. 1994. Degradation of C3 by *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. J. Infect. Dis. 170:600-8.
- Apicella, M. A., R. E. Mandrell, M. Shero, M. E. Wilson, J. M. Griffiss, G. F. Brooks, C. Lammel, J. F. Breen, and P. A. Rice. 1990. Modification by sialic acid of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* lipooligosaccharide epitope expression in human urethral exudates: an immunoelectron microscopic analysis. *J. Infect. Dis.* 162:506-12.
- 10. Areschoug, T., S. Linse, M. Stålhammar-Carlemalm, L. O. Heden, and G. Lindahl. 2002. A proline-rich region with a highly periodic sequence in streptococcal β protein adopts the polyproline II structure and is exposed on the bacterial surface. *J. Bacteriol.* 184:6376-83.
- Areschoug, T., M. Stålhammar-Carlemalm, I. Karlsson, and G. Lindahl. 2002. Streptococcal β protein has separate binding sites for human factor H and IgA-Fc. J. Biol. Chem. 277:12642-8.
- 12. Aronen, M., T. Lehto, and S. Meri. 1993. Regulation of alternative pathway complement activation by an interaction of C-reactive protein with factor H. *Immunol. Infect. Dis.* 3:83-7.
- Aslam, M., and S. J. Perkins. 2001. Folded-back solution structure of monomeric factor H of human complement by synchrotron X-ray and neutron scattering, analytical ultracentrifugation and constrained molecular modelling. J. Mol. Biol. 309:1117-38.
- Baker, C. J., and M. S. Edwards. 1995. Group B streptococcal infections, p. 980-1054. *In J. S. Remington, and J. O. Klein (ed.), Infectious diseases in the fetus and newborn infant, 4th ed. W.B. Saunders Co., Philadelphia, Pa.*
- 15. Baker, C. J., M. S. Edwards, B. J. Webb, and D. L. Kasper. 1982. Antibodyindependent classical pathway-mediated opsonophagocytosis of type Ia, group B *streptococcus. J. Clin. Invest.* 69:394-404.
- 16. Baker, C. J., and D. L. Kasper. 1976. Correlation of maternal antibody deficiency with susceptibility to neonatal group B streptococcal infection. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 294:753-6.
- 17. Baker, C. J., D. L. Kasper, and C. E. Davis. 1976. Immunochemical characterization of the "native" type III polysaccharide of group B *Streptococcus. J. Exp. Med.* 143:258-70.

- 18. Barlow, A. K., J. E. Heckels, and I. N. Clarke. 1989. The class 1 outer membrane protein of *Neisseria meningitidis*: gene sequence and structural and immunological similarities to gonococcal porins. *Mol. Microbiol.* 3:131-9.
- 19. Barnes, D. W., J. Silnutzer, C. See, and M. Shaffer. 1983. Characterization of human serum spreading factor with monoclonal antibody. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 80:1362-6.
- 20. Bart, A., J. Dankert, and A. van der Ende. 1999. Antigenic variation of the class I outer membrane protein in hyperendemic *Neisseria meningitidis* strains in the Netherlands. *Infect. Immun.* 67:3842-6.
- 21. Baumann, H., and J. Gauldie. 1994. The acute phase response. *Immunol. Today*. 15:74-80.
- 22. Benton, K. A., J. C. Paton, and D. E. Briles. 1997. Differences in virulence for mice among *Streptococcus pneumoniae* strains of capsular types 2, 3, 4, 5, and 6 are not attributable to differences in pneumolysin production. *Infect. Immun.* 65:1237-44.
- 23. Berggård, K., E. Johnsson, F. R. Mooi, and G. Lindahl. 1997. *Bordetella pertussis* binds the human complement regulator C4BP: Role of filamentous hemagglutinin. *Infect. Immun.* 65:3638-43.
- 24. Berman, S., H. Gewurz, and C. Mold. 1986. Binding of C-reactive protein to nucleated cells leads to complement activation without cytolysis. *J. Immunol.* 136:1354-9.
- 25. Berry, A. M., R. A. Lock, D. Hansman, and J. C. Paton. 1989. Contribution of autolysin to virulence of *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. *Infect. Immun.* 57:2324-30.
- 26. Berry, A. M., and J. C. Paton. 1996. Sequence heterogeneity of PsaA, a 37kilodalton putative adhesin essential for virulence of *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. *Infect. Immun.* 64:5255-62.
- Berry, A. M., J. C. Paton, and D. Hansman. 1992. Effect of insertional inactivation of the genes encoding pneumolysin and autolysin on the virulence of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* type 3. *Microb. Pathog.* 12:87-93.
- 28. Berry, A. M., J. Yother, D. E. Briles, D. Hansman, and J. C. Paton. 1989. Reduced virulence of a defined pneumolysin-negative mutant of *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. *Infect. Immun.* 57:2037-42.
- 29. Bevanger, L. 1985. The Ibc proteins of group B streptococci: isolation of the α and β antigens by immunosorbent chromatography and test for human serum antibodies against the two antigens. *Acta Pathol. Microbiol. Immunol. Scand. B.* 93:113-9.
- Bharadwaj, D., M. P. Stein, M. Volzer, C. Mold, and T. W. Du Clos. 1999. The major receptor for C-reactive protein on leukocytes is Fcγ receptor II. J. Exp. Med. 190:585-90.
- Bhattacharjee, A. K., H. J. Jennings, C. P. Kenny, A. Martin, and I. C. P. Smith. 1975. Structural determination of the sialic acid polysaccharide antigens of *Neisseria meningitidis* serogroups B and C with carbon 13 nuclear magnetic resonance. J. Biol. Chem. 250:1926-32.
- 32. Bjerre, A., B. Brusletto, T. E. Mollnes, E. Fritzsønn, E. Rosenqvist, E. Wedege, E. Namork, P. Kierulf, and P. Brandtzaeg. 2002. Complement activation induced by purified *Neisseria meningitidis* lipopolysaccharide (LPS), outer membrane vesicles, whole bacteria, and an LPS-free mutant. *J. Infect. Dis.* 185:220-8.
- 33. Blackmore, T. K., V. A. Fischetti, T. A. Sadlon, H. M. Ward, and D. L. Gordon. 1998. M protein of the group A *Streptococcus* binds to the seventh short consensus repeat of human complement factor H. *Infect. Immun.* 66:1427-31.
- 34. Blackmore, T. K., J. Hellwage, T. A. Sadlon, N. Higgs, P. F. Zipfel, H. M. Ward, and D. L. Gordon. 1998. Identification of the second heparin-binding domain in human complement factor H. *J. Immunol.* 160:3342-8.
- 35. Blackmore, T. K., T. A. Sadlon, H. M. Ward, D. M. Lublin, and D. L. Gordon. 1996. Identification of a heparin binding domain in the seventh short consensus repeat of complement factor H. *J. Immunol.* 157:5422-7.
- Blaschuk, O., K. Burdzy, and I. B. Fritz. 1983. Purification and characterization of a cell-aggregating factor (clusterin), the major glycoprotein in ram rete testis fluid. *J. Biol. Chem.* 258:7714-20.
- 37. Blom, A. M., L. Kask, and B. Dahlbäck. 2001. Structural requirements for the complement regulatory activities of C4BP. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276:27136-44.
- 38. Bohnsack, J. F., K. W. Mollison, A. M. Buko, J. W. Ashworth, and H. R. Hill. 1991. Group B streptococci inactivate complement component C5a by enzymic cleavage at the C-terminus. *Biochem. J.* 273:635-40.
- Bohnsack, J. F., K. Widjaja, S. Ghazizadeh, C. E. Rubens, D. R. Hillyard, C. J. Parker, K. H. Albertine, and H. R. Hill. 1997. A role for C5 and C5a-ase in the acute neutrophil response to group B streptococcal infections. J. Infect. Dis. 175:847-55.
- 40. Brandtzaeg, P., K. Høgåsen, P. Kierulf, and T. E. Mollnes. 1996. The excessive complement activation in fulminant meningococcal septicemia is predominantly caused by alternative pathway activation. *J. Infect. Dis.* 173:647-55.
- 41. Brandtzaeg, P., T. E. Mollnes, and P. Kierulf. 1989. Complement activation and endotoxin levels in systemic meningococcal disease. *J. Infect. Dis.* 160:58-65.
- 42. Brandtzaeg, P., P. M. Sandset, G. B. Joø, R. Øvstebø, U. Abildgaard, and P. Kierulf. 1989. The quantitative association of plasma endotoxin, antithrombin, protein C, extrinsic pathway inhibitor and fibrinopeptide A in systemic meningococcal disease. *Thromb. Res.* 55:459-70.
- 43. Breviario, F., E. M. d'Aniello, J. Golay, G. Peri, B. Bottazzi, A. Bairoch, S. Saccone, R. Marzella, V. Predazzi, M. Rocchi, G. Della Valle, E. Dejana, A. Mantovani, and M. Introna. 1992. Interleukin-1-inducible genes in endothelial cells. Cloning of a new gene related to C-reactive protein and serum amyloid P component. J. Biol. Chem. 267:22190-7.
- 44. Briles, D. E., E. Ades, J. C. Paton, J. S. Sampson, G. M. Carlone, R. C. Huebner, A. Virolainen, E. Swiatlo, and S. K. Hollingshead. 2000. Intranasal immunization of mice with a mixture of the pneumococcal proteins PsaA and PspA is highly protective against nasopharyngeal carriage of *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. *Infect. Immun.* 68:796-800.
- 45. Briles, D. E., S. Hollingshead, A. Brooks-Walter, G. S. Nabors, L. Ferguson, M. Schilling, S. Gravenstein, P. Braun, J. King, and A. Swift. 2000. The potential to use PspA and other pneumococcal proteins to elicit protection against pneumococcal infection. *Vaccine*. 18:1707-11.
- 46. Briles, D. E., S. K. Hollingshead, J. King, A. Swift, P. A. Braun, M. K. Park, L. M. Ferguson, M. H. Nahm, and G. S. Nabors. 2000. Immunization of humans with recombinant pneumococcal surface protein A (rPspA) elicits antibodies that passively protect mice from fatal infection with *Streptococcus pneumoniae* bearing heterologous PspA. *J. Infect. Dis.* 182:1694-701.
- 47. Briles, D. E., J. Yother, and L. S. McDaniel. 1988. Role of pneumococcal surface protein A in the virulence of *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. *Rev. Infect. Dis.* 10:S372-S4.
- 48. Briles, E. B., and A. Tomasz. 1973. Pneumococcal Forssman antigen. A cholinecontaining lipoteichoic acid. *J. Biol. Chem.* 248:6394-7.
- 49. Brooks-Walter, A., D. E. Briles, and S. K. Hollingshead. 1999. The *pspC* gene of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* encodes a polymorphic protein, PspC, which elicits cross-reactive antibodies to PspA and provides immunity to pneumococcal bacteremia. *Infect. Immun.* 67:6533-42.
- 50. Brown, J. S., T. Hussell, S. M. Gilliland, D. W. Holden, J. C. Paton, M. R. Ehrenstein, M. J. Walport, and M. Botto. 2002. The classical pathway is the dominant complement pathway required for innate immunity to *Streptococcus pneumoniae* infection in mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 99:16969-74.
- 51. Butko, P., A. Nicholson-Weller, and M. R. Wessels. 1999. Role of complement component C1q in the IgG-independent opsonophagocytosis of group B *Streptococcus. J. Immunol.* 163:2761-8.
- 52. Butler, J. C. 1997. Epidemiology of pneumococcal serotypes and conjugate vaccine formulations. *Microb. Drug. Resist.* 3:125-9.
- 53. Calcott, M. A., and H. J. Müller-Eberhard. 1972. C1q protein of human complement. *Biochemistry*. 11:3443-50.

- 54. Canvin, J. R., A. P. Marvin, M. Sivakumaran, J. C. Paton, G. J. Boulnois, P. W. Andrew, and T. J. Mitchell. 1995. The role of pneumolysin and autolysin in the pathology of pneumonia and septicemia in mice infected with a type 2 pneumococcus. *J. Infect. Dis.* 172:119-23.
- 55. Carrell, R. W., K. S. Aulak, and M. C. Owen. 1989. The molecular pathology of the serpins. *Mol. Biol. Med.* 6:35-42.
- Caugant, D. A., E. A. Høiby, P. Magnus, O. Scheel, T. Hoel, G. Bjune, E. Wedege, J. Eng, and L. O. Frøholm. 1994. Asymptomatic carriage of *Neisseria meningitidis* in a randomly sampled population. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* 32:323-30.
- 57. Cheng, Q., S. Debol, H. Lam, R. Eby, L. Edwards, Y. Matsuka, S. B. Olmsted, and P. P. Cleary. 2002. Immunization with C5a peptidase or peptidase-type III polysaccharide conjugate vaccines enhances clearance of group B streptococci from lungs of infected mice. *Infect. Immun.* 70:6409-15.
- 58. Cheng, Q., D. Finkel, and M. K. Hostetter. 2000. Novel purification scheme and functions for a C3-binding protein from *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. *Biochemistry*. 39:5450-7.
- 59. Chung, L. P., D. R. Bentley, and K. B. M. Reid. 1985. Molecular cloning and characterization of the cDNA coding for C4b-binding protein, a regulatory protein of the classical pathway of the human complement system. *Biochem. J.* 230:133-41.
- 60. Claus, D. R., A. P. Osmand, and H. Gewurz. 1976. Radioimmunoassay of human C-reactive protein and levels in normal sera. *J. Lab. Clin. Med.* 8:120-8.
- 61. Claus, D. R., J. Siegel, K. Petras, A. P. Osmand, and H. Gewurz. 1977. Interactions of C-reactive protein with the first component of human complement. *J. Immunol.* 119:187-92.
- 62. Cockeran, R., R. Anderson, and C. Feldman. 2002. The role of pneumolysin in the pathogenesis of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* infection. *Curr. Opin. Infect. Dis.* 15:235-9.
- 63. Cooper, N. R. 1975. Enzymatic activity of the second component of complement. *Biochemistry*. 14:4245-51.
- 64. Crain, M. J., W. D. Waltman, J. S. Turner, J. Yother, D. F. Talkington, L. S. McDaniel, B. M. Gray, and D. E. Briles. 1990. Pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA) is serologically highly variable and is expressed by all clinically important capsular serotypes of *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. *Infect. Immun.* 58:3293-9.
- 65. Culley, F. J., R. A. Harris, P. M. Kaye, K. P. W. J. McAdam, and J. G. Raynes. 1996. C-reactive protein binds to a novel ligand on *Leishmania donovani* and increases uptake into human macrophages. *J. Immunol.* 156:4691-6.
- 66. Dahlbäck, B. 1986. Inhibition of protein Ca cofactor function of human and bovine protein S by C4b-binding protein. *J. Biol. Chem.* 261:12022-7.
- 67. Dahlbäck, B. 1983. Purification of human C4b-binding protein and formation of its complex with vitamin K-dependent protein S. *Biochem. J.* 209:847-56.
- 68. Dahlbäck, B., B. Frohm, and G. Nelsestuen. 1990. High affinity interaction between C4b-binding protein and vitamin K-dependent protein S in the presence of calcium. Suggestion of a third component in blood regulating the interaction. *J. Biol. Chem.* 265:16082-7.
- 69. Dahlbäck, B., and J. Stenflo. 1981. High molecular weight complex in human plasma between vitamin K-dependent protein S and complement component C4bbinding protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 78:2512-6.
- 70. Dave, S., A. Brooks-Walter, M. K. Pangburn, and L. S. McDaniel. 2001. PspC, a pneumococcal surface protein, binds human factor H. *Infect. Immun.* 69:3435-7.
- de Agostini, A., H. R. Lijnen, R. A. Pixley, R. W. Colman, and M. Schapira. 1984. Inactivation of factor XII active fragment in normal plasma. Predominant role of C1-inhibitor. J. Clin. Invest. 73:1542-9.
- de Beaufort, A. J., J. A. Langermans, A. M. Matze-van der Lans, P. S. Hiemstra, J. M. Vossen, and R. van Furth. 1997. Difference in binding of killed and live *Streptococcus pneumoniae* serotypes by C-reactive protein. *Scand. J. Immunol.* 46:597-600.

- 73. Dempsey, P. W., M. E. D. Allison, S. Akkaraju, C. C. Goodnow, and D. T. Fearon. 1996. C3d of complement as a molecular adjuvant: bridging innate and acquired immunity. *Science*. 271:348-50.
- 74. Derrick, J. P., R. Urwin, J. Suker, I. M. Feavers, and M. C. J. Maiden. 1999. Structural and evolutionary inference from molecular variation in *Neisseria* porins. *Infect. Immun.* 67:2406-13.
- 75. Devoe, I. W., and J. E. Gilchrist. 1973. Release of endotoxin in the form of cell wall blebs during in vitro growth of *Neisseria meningitidis*. *J. Exp. Med.* 138:1156-67.
- Dierich, M. P., D. Bitter-Suermann, W. König, U. Hadding, C. Galanos, and E. T. Rietschel. 1973. Analysis of bypass activation of C3 by endotoxic LPS and loss of this potency. *Immunology*. 24:721-33.
- 77. DiScipio, R. G. 1992. Formation and structure of the C5b-7 complex of the lytic pathway of complement. *J. Biol. Chem.* 267:17087-94.
- 78. Dodds, A. W., X. D. Ren, A. C. Willis, and S. K. A. Law. 1996. The reaction mechanism of the internal thioester in the human complement component C4. *Nature*. 379:177-9.
- 79. Domingo, P., N. Barquet, M. Alvarez, P. Coll, J. Nava, and J. Garau. 1997. Group B streptococcal meningitis in adults: report of twelve cases and review. *Clin. Inf. Dis.* 25:1180-7.
- 80. Du Clos, T. W., L. T. Zlock, and R. L. Rubin. 1988. Analysis of the binding of C-reactive protein to histones and chromatin. *J. Immunol.* 141:4266-70.
- Duthy, T. G., R. J. Ormsby, E. Giannakis, A. D. Ogunniyi, U. H. Stroeher, J. C. Paton, and D. L. Gordon. 2002. The human complement regulator factor H binds pneumococcal surface protein PspC via short consensus repeats 13 to 15. *Infect. Immun.* 70:5604-11.
- Eads, M. E., N. J. Levy, D. L. Kasper, C. J. Baker, and A. Nicholson-Weller. 1982. Antibody-independent activation of C1 by type Ia group B streptococci. J. Infect. Dis. 146:665-72.
- 83. Edwards, M. S., and C. J. Baker. 1981. Complications and sequelae of meningococcal infections in children. *J. Pediatr.* 99:540-5.
- 84. Edwards, M. S., D. L. Kasper, H. J. Jennings, C. J. Baker, and A. Nicholson-Weller. 1982. Capsular sialic acid prevents activation of the alternative complement pathway by type III, group B streptococci. J. Immunol. 128:1278-83.
- 85. Edwards, M. S., A. Nicholson-Weller, C. J. Baker, and D. L. Kasper. 1980. The role of specific antibody in alternative complement pathway-mediated opsonophagocytosis of type III, group B *streptococcus. J. Exp. Med.* 151:1275-87.
- 86. Esmon, C. T., W. Ding, K. Yasuhiro, J. M. Gu, G. Ferrell, L. M. Regan, D. J. Stearns-Kurosawa, S. Kurosawa, T. Mather, Z. Laszik, and N. L. Esmon. 1997. The protein C pathway: New insights. *Thromb. Haemost.* 78:70-4.
- Familian, A., B. Zwart, H. G. Huisman, I. Rensink, D. Roem, P. L. Hordijk, L. A. Aarden, and C. E. Hack. 2001. Chromatin-independent binding of serum amyloid P component to apoptotic cells. *J. Immunol.* 167:647-54.
- Farley, M. M., R. C. Harvey, T. Stull, J. D. Smith, A. Schuchat, J. D. Wenger, and D. S. Stephens. 1993. A population-based assessment of invasive disease due to group B Streptococcus in nonpregnant adults. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 328:1807-11.
- Faust, S. N., M. Levin, O. B. Harrison, R. D. Goldin, M. S. Lockhart, S. Kondaveeti, Z. Laszik, C. T. Esmon, and R. S. Heyderman. 2001. Dysfunction of endothelial protein C activation in severe meningococcal sepsis. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 345:408-16.
- 90. Favoreel, H. W., G. R. van de Walle, H. J. Nauwynck, and M. B. Pensaert. 2003. Virus complement evasion strategies. *J. Gen. Virol.* 84:1-15.
- Fearon, D. T. 1978. Regulation by membrane sialic acid of β1H-dependent decaydissociation of amplification C3 convertase of the alternative complement pathway. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 75:1971-5.
- 92. Fearon, D. T. 1979. Regulation of the amplification C3 convertase of human complement by an inhibitory protein isolated from human erythrocyte membranes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* 76:5867-71.

- 93. Fearon, D. T., and K. F. Austen. 1975. Properdin: binding to C3b and stabilization of the C3b-dependent C3 convertase. J. Exp. Med. 142:856-63.
- 94. Fearon, D. T., and W. W. Wong. 1983. Complement ligand-receptor interactions that mediate biological responses. *Ann. Rev. Immunol.* 1:243-71.
- 95. Feavers, I. M., and M. C. J. Maiden. 1998. A gonococcal *porA* pseudogene: implications for understanding the evolution and pathogenicity of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. *Mol. Microbiol.* 30:647-56.
- 96. Figueroa, J. E., and P. Densen. 1991. Infectious diseases associated with complement deficiencies. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 4:359-95.
- 97. Fijen, C. A. P., E. J. Kuijper, A. J. Hannema, A. G. Sjöholm, and J. P. M. van Putten. 1989. Complement deficiencies in patients over ten years old with meningococcal disease due to uncommon serogroups. *Lancet*. 2:585-8.
- 98. Fijen, C. A. P., E. J. Kuijper, H. G. Tjia, M. R. Daha, and J. Dankert. 1994. Complement deficiency predisposes for meningitis due to nongroupable meningococci and *Neisseria*-related bacteria. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 18:780-4.
- 99. Finne, J., D. Bitter-Suermann, C. Goridis, and U. Finne. 1987. An IgG monoclonal antibody to group B meningococci cross-reacts with developmentally regulated polysialic acid units of glycoproteins in neural and extraneural tissues. *J. Immunol.* 138:4402-7.
- 100. Finne, J., M. Leinonen, and P. H. Mäkelä. 1983. Antigenic similarities between brain components and bacteria causing meningitis. Implications for vaccine development and pathogenesis. *Lancet*. 2:355-7.
- 101. Forbes, C. D., J. Pensky, and O. D. Ratnoff. 1970. Inhibition of activated Hageman factor and activated plasma thromboplastin antecedent by purified serum C1 inactivator. *J. Lab. Clin. Med.* 76:809-15.
- 102. Fourrier, F., P. Lestavel, C. Chopin, A. Marey, J. Goudemand, A. Rime, and J. Mangalaboyi. 1990. Meningococcemia and purpura fulminans in adults: acute deficiencies of proteins C and S and early treatment with antithrombin III concentrates. *Intensive Care Med.* 16:121-4.
- 103. Fries, L. F., H. M. Friedman, G. H. Cohen, R. J. Eisenberg, C. H. Hammer, and M. M. Frank. 1986. Glycoprotein C of herpes simplex virus 1 is an inhibitor of the complement cascade. J. Immunol. 137:1636-41.
- 104. Fujita, T., and V. Nussenzweig. 1979. The role of C4-binding protein and β1H in proteolysis of C4b and C3b. *J. Exp. Med.* 150:267-76.
- 105. Gabay, C., and I. Kushner. 1999. Acute phase proteins and other systemic responses to inflammation. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 340:448-54.
- 106. Galanos, C., E. T. Rietschel, O. Lüderitz, and O. Westphal. 1971. Interaction of lipopolysaccharides and lipid A with complement. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 19:143-52.
- 107. Garcia de Frutos, P., and B. Dahlbäck. 1994. Interaction between serum amyloid P component and C4b-binding protein associated with inhibition of factor I-mediated C4b degradation. *J. Immunol.* 152:2430-7.
- 108. Garred, P., H. O. Madsen, B. Hofmann, and A. Svejgaard. 1995. Increased frequency of homozygosity of abnormal mannan-binding-protein alleles in patients with suspected immunodeficiency. *Lancet*. 346:941-3.
- 109. Gershov, D., S. Kim, N. Brot, and K. B. Elkon. 2000. C-Reactive protein binds to apoptotic cells, protects the cells from assembly of the terminal complement components, and sustains an antiinflammatory innate immune response: Implications for systemic autoimmunity. *J. Exp. Med.* 192:1353-64.
- 110. Gewurz, H., X. H. Zhang, and T. F. Lint. 1995. Structure and function of the pentraxins. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 7:54-64.
- Gigli, I., T. Fujita, and V. Nussenzweig. 1979. Modulation of the classical pathway C3 convertase by plasma proteins C4 binding protein and C3b inactivator. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 76:6596-600.
- 112. Gigli, I., J. W. Mason, R. W. Colman, and K. F. Austen. 1970. Interaction of plasma kallikrein with the C1 inhibitor. *J. Immunol.* 104:574-81.
- Gilbert, M., D. C. Watson, A. M. Cunningham, M. P. Jennings, N. M. Young, and W. W. Wakarchuk. 1996. Cloning of the lipooligosaccharide α-2,3-

sialyltransferase from the bacterial pathogens *Neisseria meningitidis* and *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. J. Biol. Chem. 271:28271-6.

- 114. Glode, M. P., J. B. Robbins, T. Y. Liu, E. C. Gotschlich, I. Orskov, and F. Orskov. 1977. Cross-antigenicity and immunogenicity between capsular polysaccharides of group C *Neisseria meningitidis* and of *Escherichia coli* K92. *J. Infect. Dis.* 135:94-102.
- 115. Gold, R., I. Goldschneider, M. L. Lepow, T. F. Draper, and M. Randolph. 1978. Carriage of *Neisseria meningitidis* and *Neisseria lactamica* in infants and children. *J. Infect. Dis.* 137:112-21.
- Goldschneider, I., E. C. Gotschlich, and M. S. Artenstein. 1969. Human immunity to the meningococcus. II. Development of natural immunity. J. Exp. Med. 129:1327-48.
- Gordon, D. L., R. M. Kaufman, T. K. Blackmore, J. Kwong, and D. M. Lublin. 1995. Identification of complement regulatory domains in human factor H. J. Immunol. 155:348-56.
- 118. Grados, O., and W. H. Ewing. 1970. Antigenic relationship between *Escherichia* coli and *Neisseria meningitidis*. J. Infect. Dis. 122:100-3.
- 119. Gray, B. M., and H. C. Dillon Jr. 1986. Clinical and epidemiologic studies of pneumococcal infection in children. *Ped. Inf. Dis.* 5:201-7.
- 120. Grizot, S., and S. K. Buchanan. 2004. Structure of the OmpA-like domain of RmpM from *Neisseria meningitidis*. *Mol. Microbiol*. 51:1027-37.
- 121. Guttormsen, H. K., L. M. Wetzler, and A. Naess. 1993. Humoral immune response to the class 3 outer membrane protein during the course of meningococcal disease. *Infect. Immun.* 61:4734-42.
- 122. Guttormsen, H. K., L. M. Wetzler, and C. O. Solberg. 1994. Humoral immune response to class 1 outer membrane protein during the course of meningococcal disease. *Infect. Immun.* 62:1437-43.
- 123. Hammerschmidt, S., C. Birkholz, U. Zähringer, B. D. Robertson, J. van Putten, O. Ebeling, and M. Frosch. 1994. Contribution of genes from the capsule gene complex (*cps*) to lipooligosaccharide biosynthesis and serum resistance in *Neisseria meningitidis. Mol. Microbiol.* 11:885-96.
- 124. Hammerschmidt, S., S. R. Talay, P. Brandtzaeg, and G. S. Chhatwal. 1997. SpsA, a novel pneumococcal surface protein with specific binding to secretory Immunoglobulin A and secretory component. *Mol. Microbiol.* 25:1113-24.
- 125. Hammerschmidt, S., M. P. Tillig, S. Wolff, J. P. Vaerman, and G. S. Chhatwal. 2000. Species-specific binding of human secretory component to SpsA protein of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* via a hexapeptide motif. *Mol. Microbiol.* 36:726-36.
- 126. Hancock, R. E. W. 1987. Role of porins in outer membrane permeability. J. *Bacteriol.* 169:929-33.
- 127. Harpel, P. C., and N. R. Cooper. 1975. Studies on human plasma C1 inactivatorenzyme interactions. I. Mechanisms of interaction with C1s, plasmin, and trypsin. *J. Clin. Invest.* 55:593-604.
- 128. Harrison, R. A. 1983. Human C1 inhibitor: improved isolation and preliminary structural characterization. *Biochemistry*. 22:5001-7.
- 129. Hazelzet, J. A., R. de Groot, G. van Mierlo, K. F. M. Joosten, E. van der Voort, A. Eerenberg, M. H. Suur, W. C. J. Hop, and C. E. Hack. 1998. Complement activation in relation to capillary leakage in children with septic shock and purpura. *Infect. Immun.* 66:5350-6.
- Hazlewood, M. A., D. S. Kumararatne, A. D. B. Webster, M. Goodall, P. Bird, and M. Daha. 1992. An association between homozygous C3 deficiency and low levels of anti-pneumococcal capsular polysaccharide antibodies. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 87:404-9.
- 131. Härdig, Y., and B. Dahlbäck. 1996. The amino-terminal module of the C4b-binding protein β-chain contains the protein S-binding site. J. Biol. Chem. 271:20861-7.
- 132. Härdig, Y., A. Rezaie, and B. Dahlbäck. 1993. High affinity binding of human vitamin K-dependent protein S to a truncated recombinant β-chain of C4b-binding protein expressed in *Escherichia coli*. J. Biol. Chem. 268:3033-6.

- 133. Hedén, L. O., E. Frithz, and G. Lindahl. 1991. Molecular characterization of an IgA receptor from group B streptococci: sequence of the gene, identification of a proline-rich region with unique structure and isolation of N-terminal fragments with IgA-binding capacity. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 21:1481-90.
- 134. Hellwage, J., T. S. Jokiranta, M. A. Friese, T. U. Wolk, E. Kampen, P. F. Zipfel, and S. Meri. 2002. Complement C3b/C3d and cell surface polyanions are recognized by overlapping binding sites on the most carboxyl-terminal domain of complement factor H. J. Immunol. 169:6935-44.
- 135. Hellwage, J., T. S. Jokiranta, V. Koistinen, O. Vaarala, S. Meri, and P. F. Zipfel. 1999. Functional properties of complement factor H-related proteins FHR-3 and FHR-4: binding to the C3d region of C3b and differential regulation by heparin. *FEBS Lett.* 462:345-52.
- 136. Hellwage, J., T. Meri, T. Heikkilä, A. Alitalo, J. Panelius, P. Lahdenne, I. J. T. Seppälä, and S. Meri. 2001. The complement regulator factor H binds to the surface protein OspE of *Borrelia burgdorferi*. J. Biol. Chem. 276:8427-35.
- 137. Henrichsen, J. 1995. Six newly recognized types of *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. J. *Clin. Microbiol.* 33:2759-62.
- 138. Hessing, M., R. A. A. Vlooswijk, T. M. Hackeng, D. Kanters, and B. N. Bouma. 1990. The localization of heparin-binding fragments on human C4b-binding protein. J. Immunol. 144:204-8.
- 139. Hill, H. R., J. F. Bohnsack, E. Z. Morris, N. H. Augustine, C. J. Parker, P. P. Cleary, and J. T. Wu. 1988. Group B streptococci inhibit the chemotactic activity of the fifth component of complement. *J. Immunol.* 141:3551-6.
- 140. Hillarp, A., and B. Dahlback. 1988. Novel subunit in C4b-binding protein required for protein S binding. *J. Biol. Chem.* 263:12759-64.
- 141. Hitchcock, P. J. 1989. Unified nomenclature for pathogenic *Neisseria* species. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 2:S64-5.
- 142. Hong, Y., and B. Ghebrehiwet. 1992. Effect of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* elastase and alkaline protease on serum complement and isolated components C1q and C3. *Clin. Immunol. Immunopathol.* 62:133-8.
- 143. Horstmann, R. D., H. J. Sievertsen, J. Knobloch, and V. A. Fischetti. 1988. Antiphagocytic activity of streptococcal M protein: Selective binding of complement control protein factor H. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 85:1657-61.
- 144. Hosea, S. W., E. J. Brown, and M. M. Frank. 1980. The critical role of complement in experimental pneumococcal sepsis. *J. Infect. Dis.* 142:903-9.
- 145. Hostetter, M. K. 1999. Opsonic and nonopsonic interactions of C3 with *Streptococcus pneumoniae. Microb. Drug. Resist.* 5:85-9.
- 146. Hostetter, M. K. 1986. Serotypic variations among virulent pneumococci in deposition and degradation of covalently bound C3b: implications for phagocytosis and antibody production. *J. Infect. Dis.* 153:682-93.
- 147. Iannelli, F., M. R. Oggioni, and G. Pozzi. 2002. Allelic variation in the highly polymorphic locus *pspC* of *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. *Gene*. 284:63-71.
- 148. Iida, K., and V. Nussenzweig. 1983. Functional properties of membrane-associated complement receptor CR1. *J. Immunol.* 130:1876-80.
- 149. Janatova, J., K. B. M. Reid, and A. C. Willis. 1989. Disulfide bonds are localized within the short consensus repeat units of complement regulatory proteins: C4bbinding protein. *Biochemistry*. 28:4754-61.
- 150. Janoff, E. N., C. Fasching, J. M. Orenstein, J. B. Rubins, N. L. Opstad, and A. P. Dalmasso. 1999. Killing of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* by capsular polysaccharide-specific polymeric IgA, complement, and phagocytes. *J. Clin. Invest.* 104:1139-47.
- 151. Janoff, E. N., and J. B. Rubins. 1997. Invasive pneumococcal disease in the immunocompromised host. *Microb. Drug. Resist.* 3:215-32.
- 152. Janulczyk, R., F. Iannelli, A. G. Sjöholm, G. Pozzi, and L. Björck. 2000. Hic, a novel surface protein of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* that interferes with complement function. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275:37257-63.
- 153. Jarvis, G. A., and N. A. Vedros. 1987. Sialic acid of group B *Neisseria meningitidis* regulates alternative complement pathway activation. *Infect. Immun.* 55:174-80.

- 154. Jaye, D. L., and K. B. Waites. 1997. Clinical applications of C-reactive protein in pediatrics. *Ped. Infect. Dis. J.* 16:735-47.
- 155. Jedrzejas, M. J., S. K. Hollingshead, J. Lebowitz, L. Chantalat, D. E. Briles, and E. Lamani. 2000. Production and characterization of the functional fragment of pneumococcal surface protein A. Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 373:116-25.
- 156. Jenne, D. E., and J. Tschopp. 1989. Molecular structure and functional characterization of a human complement cytolysis inhibitor found in blood and seminal plasma: Identity to sulfated glycoprotein 2, a constituent of rat testis fluid. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 86:7123-7.
- 157. Jennings, H. J., K. G. Johnson, and L. Kenne. 1983. The structure of an R-type oligosaccharide core obtained from some lipopolysaccharides of *Neisseria meningitidis*. *Carbohyd. Res.* 121:233-41.
- 158. Jerlström, P. G., S. R. Talay, P. Valentin-Weigand, K. N. Timmis, and G. S. Chhatwal. 1996. Identification of an immunoglobulin A binding motif located in the β-antigen of the c protein complex of group B streptococci. *Infect. Immun.* 64:2787-93.
- 159. Jiang, H., B. Cooper, F. A. Robey, and H. Gewurz. 1992. DNA binds and activates complement via residues 14-26 of the human C1q A chain. *J. Biol. Chem.* 267:25597-601.
- 160. Jokiranta, T. S., J. Hellwage, V. Koistinen, P. F. Zipfel, and S. Meri. 2000. Each of the three binding sites on complement factor H interacts with a distinct site on C3b. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275:27657-62.
- 161. Jokiranta, T. S., L. Jokipii, and S. Meri. 1995. Complement resistance of parasites. *Scand. J. Immunol.* 42:9-20.
- 162. Jokiranta, T. S., P. F. Zipfel, J. Hakulinen, S. Kuhn, M. K. Pangburn, J. D. Tamerius, and S. Meri. 1996. Analysis of the recognition mechanism of the alternative pathway of complement by monoclonal anti-factor H antibodies: evidence for multiple interactions between H and surface bound C3b. *FEBS Lett.* 393:297-302.
- 163. Kadioglu, A., and P. W. Andrew. 2004. The innate immune response to pneumococcal lung infection: the untold story. *Trends Immunol*. 25:143-9.
- 164. Kasper, D. L., J. L. Winkelhake, W. D. Zollinger, B. L. Brandt, and M. S. Artenstein. 1973. Immunochemical similarity between polysaccharide antigens of Escherichia coli 07: K1(L):NM and group B Neisseria meningitidis. J. Immunol. 110:262-8.
- 165. Kawula, T. H., E. L. Aho, D. S. Barritt, D. G. Klapper, and J. G. Cannon. 1988. Reversible phase variation of expression of *Neisseria meningitidis* class 5 outer membrane proteins and their relationship to gonococcal proteins II. *Infect. Immun.* 56:380-6.
- 166. Kazatchkine, M. D., D. T. Fearon, and K. F. Austen. 1979. Human alternative complement pathway: membrane-associated sialic acid regulates the competition between B and β1H for cell-bound C3b. *J. Immunol.* 122:75-81.
- Källström, H., M. K. Liszewski, J. P. Atkinson, and A. B. Jonsson. 1997. Membrane cofactor protein (MCP or CD46) is a cellular pilus receptor for pathogenic *Neisseria*. *Mol. Microbiol*. 25:639-47.
- 168. Kinoshita, T., Y. Takata, H. Kozono, J. Takeda, K. S. Hong, and K. Inoue. 1988. C5 convertase of the alternative complement pathway: covalent linkage between two C3b molecules within the trimolecular complex enzyme. J. Immunol. 141:3895-901.
- 169. Kirkitadze, M. D., and P. N. Barlow. 2001. Structure and flexibility of the multiple domain proteins that regulate complement activation. *Immunol. Rev.* 180:146-61.
- 170. Klein, N. J., C. A. Ison, M. Peakman, M. Levin, S. Hammerschmidt, M. Frosch, and R. S. Heyderman. 1996. The influence of capsulation and lipooligosaccharide structure on neutrophil adhesion molecule expression and endothelial injury by *Neisseria meningitidis. J. Infect. Dis.* 173:172-9.
- 171. Klein, N. J., G. I. Shennan, R. S. Heyderman, and M. Levin. 1992. Alteration in glycosaminoglycan metabolism and surface charge on human umbilical vein

endothelial cells induced by cytokines, endotoxin and neutrophils. J. Cell Sci. 102:821-32.

- Klickstein, L. B., T. J. Bartow, V. Miletic, L. D. Rabson, J. A. Smith, and D. T. Fearon. 1988. Identification of distinct C3b and C4b recognition sites in the human C3b/C4b receptor (CR1, CD35) by deletion mutagenesis. *J. Exp. Med.* 168:1699-717.
- 173. Klickstein, L. B., W. W. Wong, J. A. Smith, J. H. Weis, J. G. Wilson, and D. T. Fearon. 1987. Human C3b/C4b receptor (CR1). Demonstration of long homologous repeating domains that are composed of the short consensus repeats characteristics of C3/C4 binding proteins. *J. Exp. Med.* 165:1095-112.
- 174. Klugman, K. P., E. C. Gotschlich, and M. S. Blake. 1989. Sequence of the structural gene (*rmpM*) for the class 4 outer membrane protein of *Neisseria meningitidis*, homology of the protein to gonococcal protein III and *Escherichia coli* OmpA, and construction of meningococcal strains that lack class 4 protein. *Infect. Immun.* 57:2066-71.
- 175. Kolb-Bachofen, V. 1991. A review on the biological properties of C-reactive protein. *Immunobiology*. 183:133-45.
- 176. Korb, L. C., and J. M. Ahearn. 1997. C1q binds directly and specifically to surface blebs of apoptotic human keratinocytes. Complement deficiency and systemic lupus erythematosus revisited. *J. Immunol.* 158:4525-8.
- 177. Kostavasili, I., A. Sahu, H. M. Friedman, R. J. Eisenberg, G. H. Cohen, and J. D. Lambris. 1997. Mechanism of complement inactivation by glycoprotein C of herpes simplex virus. J. Immunol. 158:1763-71.
- 178. Kühn, S., C. Skerka, and P. F. Zipfel. 1995. Mapping of the complement regulatory domains in the human factor H-like protein 1 and in factor H. *J. Immunol.* 155:5663-70.
- 179. Kühn, S., and P. F. Zipfel. 1996. Mapping of the domains required fo decay acceleration activity of the human factor H-like protein 1 and factor H. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 26:2383-7.
- 180. Kuo, J., M. Douglas, H. K. Ree, and A. A. Lindberg. 1995. Characterization of a recombinant pneumolysin and its use as a protein carrier for pneumococcal type 18C conjugate vaccines. *Infect. Immun.* 63:2706-13.
- 181. Lachmann, P. J., and N. C. Hughes-Jones. 1984. Initiation of complement activation. *Springer Semin. Immunopathol.* 7:143-62.
- 182. Lachmann, P. J., and H. J. Müller-Eberhard. 1968. The demonstration in human serum of "conglutinogen-activating factor" and its effect on the third component of complement. *J. Immunol.* 100:691-8.
- 183. Lachmann, P. J., and R. A. Thompson. 1970. Reactive lysis: The complementmediated lysis of unsensitized cells. II. The characterization of activated reactor as C56 and the participation of C8 and C9. J. Exp. Med. 131:643-57.
- 184. Lagergard, T., J. Shiloach, J. B. Robbins, and R. Schneerson. 1990. Synthesis and immunological properties of conjugates composed of group B streptococcus type III capsular polysaccharide covalently bound to tetanus toxoid. *Infect. Immun.* 58:687-94.
- 185. Lane, P. J. L., and I. C. M. MacLennan. 1986. Impaired IgG2 anti-pneumococcal antibody responses in patients with recurrent infection and normal IgG2 levels but no IgA. *Clin. Exp. Immunol.* 65:427-33.
- 186. Larsson, C., M. Stålhammar-Carlemalm, and G. Lindahl. 1999. Protection against experimental infection with group B streptococcus by immunization with a bivalent protein vaccine. *Vaccine*. 17:454-8.
- 187. Law, S. K., and A. W. Dodds. 1990. C3, C4 and C5: the thioester site. *Biochem.* Soc. Transact. 18:1155-9.
- 188. Lee, G. W., T. H. Lee, and J. Vilcek. 1993. TSG-14, a tumor necrosis factor- and IL-1-inducible protein, is a novel member of the pentaxin family of acute phase proteins. *J. Immunol.* 150:1804-12.
- 189. Lesavre, P. H., T. E. Hugli, A. F. Esser, and H. J. Müller-Eberhard. 1979. The alternative pathway C3/C5 convertase: Chemical basis of factor B activation. *J. Immunol.* 123:529-34.

- 190. Lesavre, P. H., and H. J. Müller-Eberhard. 1978. Mechanism of action of factor D of the alternative complement pathway. *J. Exp. Med.* 148:1498-509.
- 191. Lindahl, G., B. Åkerstrom, J. P. Vaerman, and L. Stenberg. 1990. Characterization of an IgA receptor from group B streptococci: specificity for serum IgA. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 20:2241-7.
- 192. Liu, T. Y., E. C. Gotschlich, F. T. Dunne, and E. K. Jonssen. 1971. Studies on the meningococcal polysaccharides. II. Composition and chemical properties of the group B and group C polysaccharide. *J. Biol. Chem.* 246:4703-12.
- 193. Loos, M., A. B. Laurell, A. G. Sjöholm, U. Mårtensson, and A. I. Berkel. 1980. Immunochemical and functional analysis of a complete C1q deficiency in man: evidence that C1r and C1s are in the native form, and that they reassociate with purified C1q to form macromolecular C1. J. Immunol. 124:59-63.
- 194. Lublin, D. M., M. K. Liszewski, T. W. Post, M. A. Arce, M. M. Le Beau, M. B. Rebentisch, R. S. Lemons, T. Seya, and J. P. Atkinson. 1988. Molecular cloning and chromosomal localization of human membrane cofactor protein (MCP). Evidence for inclusion in the multigene family of complement-regulatory proteins. *J. Exp. Med.* 168:181-94.
- 195. Lytton, E. J., and M. S. Blake. 1986. Isolation and partial characterization of the reduction-modifiable protein of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. J. Exp. Med. 164:1749-59.
- 196. Madoff, L. C., L. C. Paoletti, J. Y. Tai, and D. L. Kasper. 1994. Maternal immunization of mice with group B streptococcal type III polysaccharide-beta C protein conjugate elicits protective antibody to multiple serotypes. J. Clin. Invest. 94:286-92.
- 197. Mandrell, R. E., J. M. Griffiss, and B. A. Macher. 1988. Lipooligosaccharides (LOS) of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* and *Neisseria meningitidis* have components that are immunochemically similar to precursors of human blood group antigens. Carbohydrate sequence specificity of the mouse monoclonal antibodies that recognize crossreacting antigens on LOS and human erythrocytes. *J. Exp. Med.* 168:107-26.
- 198. Mandrell, R. E., J. J. Kim, C. M. John, B. W. Gibson, J. V. Sugai, M. A. Apicella, J. M. Griffiss, and R. Yamasaki. 1991. Endogenous sialylation of the lipooligosaccharides of *Neisseria meningitidis*. J. Bacteriol. 173:2823-32.
- 199. Marques, M. B., D. L. Kasper, M. K. Pangburn, and M. R. Wessels. 1992. Prevention of C3 deposition by capsular polysaccharide is a virulence mechanism of type III group B streptococci. *Infect. Immun.* 60:3986-93.
- 200. Matsushita, M., S. Thiel, J. C. Jensenius, I. Terai, and T. Fujita. 2000. Proteolytic activities of two types of mannose-binding lectin-associated serine protease. *J. Immunol.* 165:2637-42.
- 201. McDaniel, L. S., J. S. Sheffield, E. Swiatlo, J. Yother, M. J. Crain, and D. E. Briles. 1992. Molecular localization of variable and conserved regions of *pspA*, and identification of additional *pspA* homologous sequences in *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. *Microb*. *Pathog*. 13:261-9.
- 202. McDaniel, L. S., J. Yother, M. Vijayakumar, L. McGarry, W. R. Guild, and D. E. Briles. 1987. Use of insertional inactivation to facilitate studies of biological properties of pneumococcal surface protein A (PspA). *J. Exp. Med.* 165:381-94.
- 203. McGuinness, B., A. K. Barlow, I. N. Clarke, J. E. Farley, A. Anilionis, J. T. Poolman, and J. E. Heckels. 1990. Deduced amino acid sequences of class 1 protein (PorA) from three strains of *Neisseria meningitidis*. Synthetic peptides define the epitopes responsible for serosubtype specificity. *J. Exp. Med.* 171:1871-82.
- 204. McGuinness, B. T., P. R. Lambden, and J. E. Heckels. 1993. Class 1 outer membrane protein of *Neisseria meningitidis*: epitope analysis of the antigenic diversity between strains, implications for subtype definition and molecular epidemiology. *Mol. Microbiol.* 7:505-14.
- 205. McRae, J. L., P. J. Cowan, D. A. Power, K. I. Mitchelhill, B. E. Kemp, B. P. Morgan, and B. F. Murphy. 2001. Human factor H-related protein 5 (FHR-5). A new complement-associated protein. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276:6747-54.

- Medof, M. E., K. Iida, C. Mold, and V. Nussenzweig. 1982. Unique role of the complement receptor CR1 in the degradation of C3b associated with immune complexes. J. Exp. Med. 156:1739-54.
- 207. Medof, M. E., D. M. Lublin, V. M. Holers, D. J. Ayers, R. R. Getty, J. F. Leykam, J. P. Atkinson, and M. L. Tykocinski. 1987. Cloning and characterization of cDNAs encoding the complete sequence of decay-accelerating factor of human complement. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 84:2007-11.
- 208. Medof, M. E., E. I. Walter, W. L. Roberts, R. Haas, and T. L. Rosenberry. 1986. Decay accelerating factor of complement is anchored to cells by a C-terminal glycolipid. *Biochemistry*. 25:6740-7.
- 209. Meri, S., T. Lehto, C. W. Sutton, J. Tyynelä, and M. Baumann. 1996. Structural composition and functional characterization of soluble CD59: heterogeneity of the oligosaccharide and glycophosphoinositol (GPI) anchor revealed by laser-desorption mass spectrometric analysis. *Biochem. J.* 316:923-35.
- 210. Meri, S., B. P. Morgan, M. Wing, J. Jones, A. Davies, E. Podack, and P. J. Lachmann. 1990. Human protectin (CD59), an 18-20-kD homologous complement restriction factor, does not restrict perforin-mediated lysis. *J. Exp. Med.* 172:367-70.
- 211. Meri, S., and M. K. Pangburn. 1990. Discrimination between activators and nonactivators of the alternative pathway of complement: regulation via a sialic acid/polyanion binding site on factor H. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 87:3982-6.
- Meri, T., A. Hartmann, D. Lenk, R. Eck, R. Würzner, J. Hellwage, S. Meri, and P. F. Zipfel. 2002. The yeast *Candida albicans* binds complement regulators factor H and FHL-1. *Infect. Immun.* 70:5185-92.
- 213. Meri, T., T. S. Jokiranta, J. Hellwage, A. Bialonski, P. F. Zipfel, and S. Meri. 2002. Onchocerca volvulus microfilariae avoid complement attack by direct binding of factor H. J Infect Dis. 185:1786-93.
- Mevorach, D., J. O. Mascarenhas, D. Gershov, and K. B. Elkon. 1998. Complement-dependent clearance of apoptotic cells by human macrophages. J. Exp. Med. 1998:2313-20.
- 215. Minetti, C. A. S. A., M. S. Blake, and D. P. Remeta. 1998. Characterization of the structure, function, and conformational stability of PorB class 3 protein from *Neisseria meningitidis*. A porin with unusual physicochemical properties. *J. Biol. Chem.* 273:25329-38.
- 216. Minetti, C. A. S. A., J. Y. Tai, M. S. Blake, J. K. Pullen, S. M. Liang, and D. P. Remeta. 1997. Structural and functional characterization of a recombinant PorB class 2 protein from *Neisseria meningitidis*. Conformational stability and porin activity. *J. Biol. Chem.* 272:10710-20.
- 217. Mitchell, T. J., P. W. Andrew, F. K. Saunders, A. N. Smith, and G. J. Boulnois. 1991. Complement activation and antibody binding by pneumolysin via a region of the toxin homologous to a human acute-phase protein. *Mol. Microbiol.* 5:1883-8.
- 218. Mold, C., and H. Gewurz. 1981. Inhibitory effect of C-reactive protein on alternative C pathway activation by liposomes and *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. J. *Immunol*. 127:2089-92.
- 219. Mold, C., M. Kingzette, and H. Gewurz. 1984. C-reactive protein inhibits pneumococcal activation of the alternative pathway by increasing the interaction between factor H and C3b. *J. Immunol.* 133:882-5.
- 220. Mold, C., S. Nakayama, T. J. Holzer, H. Gewurz, and T. W. Du Clos. 1981. Creactive protein is protective against *Streptococcus pneumoniae* infection in mice. *J. Exp. Med.* 154:1703-8.
- 221. Müller-Eberhard, H., U. Nilsson, and T. Aronsson. 1960. Isolation and characterization of two β 1-glycoproteins of human serum. *J. Exp. Med.* 111:201-15.
- 222. Müller-Eberhard, H. J., M. J. Polley, and M. A. Calcott. 1967. Formation and functional significance of a molecular complex derived from the second and the fourth component of human complement. *J. Exp. Med.* 125:359-80.

- 223. Nagasawa, S., and R. M. Stroud. 1977. Cleavage of C2 by C1s into the antigenically distinct fragments C2a and C2b: Demonstration of binding of C2b to C4b. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 74:2998-3001.
- 224. Nagasawa, S., and R. M. Stroud. 1977. Mechanism of action of the C3b inactivator: requirement for a high molecular weight cofactor (C3b-C4bINA cofactor) and production of a new C3b derivative (C3b'). *Immunochemistry*. 14:749-56.
- 225. Nauta, A. J., B. Bottazzi, A. Mantovani, G. Salvatori, U. Kishore, W. J. Schwaeble, A. R. Gingras, S. Tzima, F. Vivanco, J. Egido, O. Tijsma, E. C. Hack, M. R. Daha, and A. Roos. 2003. Biochemical and functional characterization of the interaction between pentraxin 3 and C1q. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 33:465-73.
- 226. Nauta, A. J., M. R. Daha, C. van Kooten, and A. Roos. 2003. Recognition and clearance of apoptotic cells: a role for complement and pentraxins. *Trends Immunol.* 24:148-54.
- 227. Nauta, A. J., L. A. Trouw, M. R. Daha, O. Tijsma, R. Nieuwland, W. J. Schwaeble, A. R. Gingras, A. Mantovani, E. C. Hack, and A. Roos. 2002. Direct binding of C1q to apoptotic cells and cell blebs induces complement activation. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 32:1726-36.
- 228. Navratil, J. S., S. C. Watkins, J. J. Wisnieski, and J. M. Ahearn. 2001. The globular heads of C1q specifically recognize surface blebs of apoptotic vascular endothelial cells. *J. Immunol.* 166:3231-9.
- 229. Neeleman, C., S. P. M. Geelen, P. C. Aerts, M. R. Daha, T. E. Mollnes, J. J. Roord, G. Posthuma, H. van Dijk, and A. Fleer. 1999. Resistance to both complement activation and phagocytosis in type 3 pneumococci is mediated by the binding of complement regulatory protein factor H. *Infect. Immun.* 67:4517-24.
- 230. Nicholson-Weller, A., J. Burge, D. T. Fearon, P. F. Weller, and K. F. Austen. 1982. Isolation of a human erythrocyte membrane glycoprotein with decay-accelerating activity for C3 convertases of the complement system. *J. Immunol.* 129:184-9.
- 231. Nicol, P. A. E., and P. J. Lachmann. 1973. The alternate pathway of complement activation. The role of C3 and its inactivator (KAF). *Immunology*. 24:259-75.
- 232. Nielsen, C. H., E. M. Fischer, and R. G. Q. Leslie. 2000. The role of complement in the acquired immune response. *Immunology*. 100:4-12.
- 233. Nilsson, B., and H. J. Müller-Eberhard. 1965. Isolation of β 1F-globulin from human serum and its characterization as the fifth component of complement. *J. Exp. Med.* 122:277-98.
- 234. Nilsson, U. R., R. J. Mandle, Jr., and J. A. McConnell-Mapes. 1975. Human C3 and C5: subunit structure and modifications by trypsin and C42-C423. *J. Immunol.* 114:815-22.
- 235. Norris, K. A., B. Bradt, N. R. Cooper, and M. So. 1991. Characterization of a *Trypanosoma cruzi* C3 binding protein with functional and genetic similarities to the human complement regulatory protein, decay-accelerating factor. *J. Immunol.* 147:2240-7.
- 236. Obaro, S. K., R. A. Adegbola, W. A. S. Banya, and B. M. Greenwood. 1996. Carriage of pneumococci after pneumococcal vaccination. *Lancet*. 348:271-2.
- 237. Oda, T., Y. Kojima, T. Akaike, S. Ijiri, A. Molla, and H. Maeda. 1990. Inactivation of chemotactic activity of C5a by the serratial 56-kilodalton protease. *Infect. Immun.* 58:1269-72.
- 238. Ogunniyi, A. D., M. C. Woodrow, J. T. Poolman, and J. C. Paton. 2001. Protection against *Streptococcus pneumoniae* elicited by immunization with pneumolysin and CbpA. *Infect. Immun.* 69:5997-6003.
- 239. Oragui, E. E., S. Nadel, P. Kyd, and M. Levin. 2000. Increased excretion of urinary glycosaminoglycans in meningococcal septicemia and their relationship to proteinuria. *Crit. Care Med.* 28:3002-8.
- 240. Overweg, K., A. Kerr, M. Sluijter, M. H. Jackson, T. J. Mitchell, A. P. J. M. de Jong, R. de Groot, and P. W. M. Hermans. 2000. The putatite proteinase maturation protein A of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* is a conserved surface protein with potential to elicit protective immune responses. *Infect. Immun.* 68:4180-8.
- 241. Pangburn, M. K., M. A. Atkinson, and S. Meri. 1991. Localization of the heparinbinding site on complement factor H. J. Biol. Chem. 266:16847-53.

- 242. Pangburn, M. K., and H. J. Müller-Eberhard. 1978. Complement C3 convertase: Cell surface restriction of ß1H control and generation of restriction on neuraminidase-treated cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 75:2416-20.
- 243. Pangburn, M. K., R. D. Schreiber, and H. J. Müller-Eberhard. 1977. Human complement C3b inactivator: isolation, characterization, and demonstration of an absolute requirement for the serum protein β1H for cleavage of C3b and C4b in solution. J. Exp. Med. 146:257-70.
- 244. Paoletti, L. C., and L. C. Madoff. 2002. Vaccines to prevent neonatal GBS infection. *Semin. Neonatol.* 7:315-23.
- 245. Pathan, N., S. N. Faust, and M. Levin. 2003. Pathophysiology of meningococcal meningitis and septicaemia. *Arch. Dis. Child.* 88:601-7.
- 246. Paton, J. C., R. A. Lock, C. J. Lee, J. P. Li, A. M. Berry, T. J. Mitchell, P. W. Andrew, D. Hansman, and G. J. Boulnois. 1991. Purification and immunogenicity of genetically obtained pneumolysin toxoids and their conjugation to *Streptococcus pneumoniae* type 19 F polysaccharide. *Infect. Immun.* 59:2297-304.
- 247. Paton, J. C., B. Rowan-Kelly, and A. Ferrante. 1984. Activation of human complement by the pneumococcal toxin pneumolysin. *Infect. Immun.* 43:1085-7.
- 248. Pepys, M. B., and G. M. Hirschfield. 2003. C-reactive protein: a critical update. J. *Clin. Invest.* 111:1805-12.
- 249. Podack, E. R., and H. J. Müller-Eberhard. 1979. Isolation of human S-protein, an inhibitor of the membrane attack complex of complement. *J. Biol. Chem.* 254:9908-14.
- Prodeus, A. P., S. Goerg, L. M. Shen, O. O. Pozdnyakova, L. Chu, E. M. Alicot, C. C. Goodnow, and M. C. Carroll. 1998. A critical role for complement in maintenance of self-tolerance. *Immunity*. 9:721-31.
- 251. Pujol, C., E. Eugene, L. de Saint Martin, and X. Nassif. 1997. Interaction of *Neisseria meningitidis* with a polarized monolayer of epithelial cells. *Infect. Immun.* 65:4836-42.
- 252. Ram, S., M. Cullinane, A. M. Blom, S. Gulati, D. P. McQuillen, B. G. Monks, C. O'Connell, R. Boden, C. Elkins, M. K. Pangburn, B. Dahlbäck, and P. A. Rice. 2001. Binding of C4b-binding protein to porin: A molecular mechanism of serum resistance of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae. J. Exp. Med.* 193:281-95.
- Ram, S., F. G. Mackinnon, S. Gulati, D. P. McQuillen, U. Vogel, M. Frosch, C. Elkins, H. K. Guttormsen, L. M. Wetzler, M. Oppermann, M. K. Pangburn, and P. A. Rice. 1999. The contrasting mechanisms of serum resistance of Neisseria gonorrhoeae and group B Neisseria meningitidis. *Mol. Immunol.* 36:915-28.
- 254. Ram, S., A. K. Sharma, S. D. Simpson, S. Gulati, D. P. McQuillen, M. K. Pangburn, and P. A. Rice. 1998. A novel sialic acid binding site on factor H mediates serum resistance of sialylated *Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. J. Exp. Med. 187:743-52.
- 255. Rautemaa, R., G. A. Jarvis, P. Marnila, and S. Meri. 1998. Acquired resistance of *Escherichia coli* to complement lysis by binding of glycophosphoinositol-anchored protectin (CD59). *Infect. Immun.* 66:1928-33.
- 256. Rautemaa, R., and S. Meri. 1999. Complement-resistance mechanisms of bacteria. *Microbes Infect.* 1:785-94.
- 257. Rautemaa, R., H. Rautelin, P. Puolakkainen, A. Kokkola, P. Kärkkäinen, and S. Meri. 2001. Survival of *Helicobacter pylori* from complement lysis by binding of GPI- anchored protectin (CD59). *Gastroenterology*. 120:470-9.
- 258. Reed, S. L., J. A. Ember, D. S. Herdman, R. G. DiScipio, T. E. Hugli, and I. Gigli. 1995. The extracellular neutral cysteine proteinase of *Entamoeba histolytica* degrades anaphylatoxins C3a and C5a. *J. Immunol.* 155:266-74.
- 259. Reller, L. B., R. R. MacGregor, and H. N. Beaty. 1973. Bactericidal antibody after colonization with *Neisseria meningitidis*. J. Infect. Dis. 127:56-62.
- 260. Robey, F. A., K. D. Jones, and A. D. Steinberg. 1985. C-reactive protein mediates the solubilization of nuclear DNA by complement in vitro. *J. Exp. Med.* 161:1344-56.

- 261. Robey, F. A., K. D. Jones, T. Tanaka, and T. Y. Liu. 1984. Binding of C-reactive protein to chromatin and nucleosome core particles. A possible physiological role of C-reactive protein. *J. Biol. Chem.* 259:7311-6.
- 262. Rokita, E., A. Makristathis, E. Presterl, M. L. Rotter, and A. M. Hirschl. 1998. *Helicobacter pylori* urease significantly reduces opsonization by human complement. J. Infect. Dis. 178:1521-5.
- 263. Rollins, S. A., and P. J. Sims. 1990. The complement-inhibitory activity of CD59 resides in its capacity to block incorporation of C9 into membrane C5b-9. *J. Immunol.* 144:3478-83.
- 264. Rosenow, C., P. Ryan, J. N. Weiser, S. Johnson, P. Fontan, A. Ortqvist, and H. R. Masure. 1997. Contribution of novel choline-binding proteins to adherence, colonization and immunogenicity of *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. *Mol. Microbiol.* 25:819-29.
- 265. Rosenqvist, E., A. Musacchio, A. Aase, E. A. Høiby, E. Namork, J. Kolberg, E. Wedege, A. Delvig, R. Dalseg, T. E. Michaelsen, and J. Tommassen. 1999. Functional activities and epitope specificity of human and murine antibodies against the class 4 outer membrane protein (Rmp) of *Neisseria meningitidis. Infect. Immun.* 67:1267-76.
- 266. Rosenstein, N. E., and B. A. Perkins. 2000. Update on *Haemophilus influenzae* serotype b and meningococcal vaccines. *Pediatr. Clin. North Am.* 47:337-52.
- 267. Rosenstein, N. E., B. A. Perkins, D. S. Stephens, T. Popovic, and J. M. Hughes. 2001. Meningococcal disease. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 344:1378-88.
- Ross, S. C., and P. Densen. 1984. Complement deficiency states and infection: Epidemiology, pathogenesis and consequences of neisserial and other infections in an immune deficiency. *Medicine*. 63:243-73.
- Rothlein, R., and T. A. Springer. 1985. Complement receptor type three-dependent degradation of opsonized erythrocytes by mouse macrophages. J. Immunol. 135:2668-72.
- 270. Ruddy, S., and K. F. Austen. 1969. C3 inactivator of man. I. Hemolytic measurement by the inactivation of cell-bound C3. *J. Immunol.* 102:533-43.
- 271. Russell-Jones, G. J., E. C. Gotschlich, and M. S. Blake. 1984. A surface receptor specific for human IgA on group B streptococci possessing the Ibc protein antigen. *J. Exp. Med.* 160:1467-75.
- 272. Rynnel-Dagöö, B., A. Freijd, L. Hammarström, V. Oxelius, M. A. A. Persson, and C. I. E. Smith. 1986. Pneumococcal antibodies of different immunoglobulin subclasses in normal and IgG subclass deficient individuals of various ages. *Acta Otolaryngol.* 101:146-51.
- 273. Rytkönen, A., B. Albiger, P. Hansson-Palo, H. Källström, P. Olcén, H. Fredlund, and A. B. Jonsson. 2004. *Neisseria meningitidis* undergoes PilC phase variation and PilE sequence variation during invasive disease. *J. Infect. Dis.* 189:402-9.
- 274. Salacinski, P. R., C. McLean, J. E. Sykes, V. V. Clement-Jones, and P. J. Lowry. 1981. Iodination of proteins, glycoproteins, and peptides using a solid-phase oxidizing agent, 1,3,4,6-tetrachloro-3α,6α-diphenyl glycoluril (Iodogen). *Anal. Biochem.* 117:136-46.
- 275. Sato, T., Y. Endo, M. Matsushita, and T. Fujita. 1994. Molecular characterization of a novel serine protease involved in activation of the complement system by mannose-binding protein. *Int. Immunol.* 6:665-9.
- 276. Saukkonen, K., M. Leinonen, H. Abdillahi, and J. T. Poolman. 1989. Comparative evaluation of potential components for group B meningococcal vaccine by passive protection in the infant rat and *in vitro* bactericidal assay. *Vaccine*. **7:**325-8.
- 277. Scharfstein, J., A. Ferreira, I. Gigli, and V. Nussenzweig. 1978. Human C4-binding protein. I. Isolation and characterization. *J. Exp. Med.* 148:207-22.
- 278. Schifferli, J. A., Y. C. Ng, and D. K. Peters. 1986. The role of complement and its receptor in the elimination of immune complexes. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 315:488-95.
- 279. Schneider, H., T. L. Hale, W. D. Zollinger, R. C. Seid, Jr., C. A. Hammack, and J. M. Griffiss. 1984. Heterogeneity of molecular size and antigenic expression within lipooligosaccharides of individual strains of *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* and *Neisseria meningitidis*. *Infect. Immun.* 45:544-9.

- 280. Schreiber, R. D., and H. J. Müller-Eberhard. 1974. Fourth component of human complement: description of a three polypeptide chain structure. *J. Exp. Med.* 140:1324-35.
- 281. Schuchat, A. 1998. Epidemiology of group B streptococcal disease in the United States: shifting paradigms. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 11:497-513.
- 282. Schwalbe, R. A., B. Dahlbäck, and G. L. Nelsestuen. 1990. Independent association of serum amyloid P component, protein S, and complement C4b with complement C4b-binding protein and subsequent association of the complex with membranes. *J. Biol. Chem.* 265:21749-57.
- 283. Seya, T., J. R. Turner, and J. P. Atkinson. 1986. Purification and characterization of a membrane protein (gp45-70) that is a cofactor for cleavage of C3b and C4b. *J. Exp. Med.* 163:837-55.
- 284. Sharma, A. K., and M. K. Pangburn. 1996. Identification of three physically and functionally distinct binding sites for C3b in human complement factor H by deletion mutagenesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 93:10996-1001.
- Sjöholm, A. G. 1990. Inherited complement deficiency states: implications for immunity and immunological disease. *Acta Pathol. Microbiol. Immunol. Scand.* 98:861-74.
- 286. Smith, C. A., M. K. Pangburn, C. W. Vogel, and H. J. Müller-Eberhard. 1984. Molecular architecture of human properdin, a positive regulator of the alternative pathway of complement. *J. Biol. Chem.* 259:4582-8.
- 287. Song, J., C. A. Minetti, M. S. Blake, and M. Colombini. 1999. Meningococcal PorA/C1, a channel that combines high conductance and high selectivity. *Biophys.* J. 76:804-13.
- 288. Steel, D. M., and A. S. Whitehead. 1994. The major acute phase reactants: C-reactive protein, serum amyloid P component and serum amyloid A protein. *Immun. Today.* 15:81-8.
- 289. Stein, M. P., J. C. Edberg, R. P. Kimberly, E. K. Mangan, D. Bharadwaj, C. Mold, and T. W. Du Clos. 2000. C-reactive protein binding to FcγRIIa on human monocytes and neutrophils is allele-specific. J. Clin. Invest. 105:369-76.
- 290. Stephens, D. S., and Z. A. McGee. 1981. Attachment of *Neisseria meningitidis* to human mucosal surfaces: influence of pili and type of receptor cell. *J. Infect. Dis.* 143:525-32.
- 291. Stephens, D. S., A. M. Whitney, J. Rothbard, and G. K. Schoolnik. 1985. Pili of *Neisseria meningitidis*. Analysis of structure and investigation of structural and antigenic relationships to gonococcal pili. *J. Exp. Med.* 161:1539-53.
- 292. Stern, A., and T. F. Meyer. 1987. Common mechanism controlling phase and antigenic variation in pathogenic neisseriae. *Mol. Microbiol.* 1:5-12.
- 293. Sugita, Y., Y. Nakano, and M. Tomita. 1988. Isolation from human erythrocytes of a new membrane protein which inhibits the formation of complement transmembrane channels. *J. Biochem.* 104:633-7.
- 294. Swiatlo, E., F. R. Champlin, S. C. Holman, W. W. Wilson, and J. M. Watt. 2002. Contribution of choline-binding proteins to cell surface properties of *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. *Infect. Immun.* 70:412-5.
- 295. Szalai, A. J., D. E. Briles, and J. E. Volanakis. 1996. Role of complement in Creactive-protein-mediated protection of mice from *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. *Infect. Immun.* 64:4850-3.
- 296. Tack, B. F., S. C. Morris, and J. W. Prahl. 1979. Third component of human complement: Structural analysis of the polypeptide chains of C3 and C3b. *Biochemistry*. 18:1497-503.
- 297. Takahashi, S., Y. Aoyagi, E. E. Adderson, Y. Okuwaki, and J. F. Bohnsack. 1999. Capsular sialic acid limits C5a production on type III group B streptococci. *Infect. Immun.* 67:1866-70.
- 298. Takahashi, S., Y. Nagano, N. Nagano, O. Hayashi, F. Taguchi, and Y. Okuwaki. 1995. Role of C5a-ase in group B streptococcal resistance to opsonophagocytic killing. *Infect. Immun.* 63:4764-9.

- 299. Takata, Y., T. Kinoshita, H. Kozono, J. Takeda, E. Tanaka, K. Hong, and K. Inoue. 1987. Covalent association of C3b with C4b within C5 convertase of the classical complement pathway. *J. Exp. Med.* 165:1494-507.
- 300. Tamura, N., A. Shimada, and S. Chang. 1972. Further evidence for immune cytolysis by antibody and the first eight components of complement in the absence of C9. *Immunology*. 22:131-40.
- 301. Tettelin, H., V. Masignani, M. J. Cieslewicz, J. A. Eisen, S. Peterson, M. R. Wessels, I. T. Paulsen, K. E. Nelson, I. Margarit, T. D. Read, L. C. Madoff, A. M. Wolf, M. J. Beanan, L. M. Brinkac, S. C. Daugherty, R. T. DeBoy, A. S. Durkin, J. F. Kolonay, R. Madupu, M. R. Lewis, D. Radune, N. B. Fedorova, D. Scanlan, H. Khouri, S. Mulligan, H. A. Carty, R. T. Cline, S. E. Van Aken, J. Gill, M. Scarselli, M. Mora, E. T. Iacobini, C. Brettoni, G. Galli, M. Mariani, F. Vegni, D. Maione, D. Rinaudo, R. Rappuoli, J. L. Telford, D. L. Kasper, G. Grandi, and C. M. Fraser. 2002. Complete genome sequence and comparative genomic analysis of an emerging human pathogen, serotype V *Streptococcus agalactiae. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 99:12391-6.
- 302. Thern, A., L. Stenberg, B. Dahlbäck, and G. Lindahl. 1995. Ig-binding surface proteins of *Streptococcus pyogenes* also bind human C4b-binding protein (C4BP), a regulatory component of the complement system. *J. Immunol.* 154:375-86.
- 303. Thiel, S., T. Vorup-Jensen, C. M. Stover, W. Schwaeble, S. B. Laursen, K. Poulsen, A. C. Willis, P. Eggleton, S. Hansen, U. Holmskov, K. B. M. Reid, and J. C. Jensenius. 1997. A second serine protease associated with mannan-binding lectin that activates complement. *Nature*. 386:506-10.
- 304. Tillett, W. S., and T. Francis Jr. 1930. Serological reactions in pneumonia with a non-protein somatic fraction of pneumococcus. *J. Exp. Med.* 52:561-71.
- 305. Tillett, W. S., W. F. Goebel, and O. T. Avery. 1930. Chemical and immunological properties of a species-specific carbohydrate of pneumococci. *J. Exp. Med.* 52:895-900.
- 306. Tinsley, C. R., and J. E. Heckels. 1986. Variation in the expression of pili and outer membrane protein by *Neisseria meningitidis* during the course of meningococcal infection. J. Gen. Microbiol. 132:2483-90.
- 307. Tomasz, A. 1967. Choline in the cell wall of a bacterium: novel type of polymerlinked choline in pneumococcus. *Science*. 157:694-7.
- 308. Tommassen, J., P. Vermeij, M. Struyve, R. Benz, and J. T. Poolman. 1990. Isolation of *Neisseria meningitidis* mutants deficient in class 1 (PorA) and class 3 (PorB) outer membrane proteins. *Infect. Immun.* 58:1355-9.
- 309. Tsai, C. M., C. E. Frasch, and L. F. Mocca. 1981. Five structural classes of major outer membrane proteins in *Neisseria meningitidis*. J. Bacteriol. 146:69-78.
- 310. Tschopp, J., A. Chonn, S. Hertig, and L. E. French. 1993. Clusterin, the human apolipoprotein and complement inhibitor, binds to complement C7, C8β, and the b domain of C9. J. Immunol. 151:2159-65.
- 311. Tschopp, J., A. Engel, and E. R. Podack. 1984. Molecular weight of poly(C9). 12 to 18 C9 molecules form the transmembrane channel of complement. *J. Biol. Chem.* 259:1922-8.
- 312. Tschopp, J., H. J. Müller-Eberhard, and E. R. Podack. 1982. Formation of transmembrane tubules by spontaneous polymerization of the hydrophilic complement protein C9. *Nature*. 298:534-8.
- 313. Tu, A. H. T., R. L. Fulgham, M. A. McCrory, D. E. Briles, and A. J. Szalai. 1999. Pneumococcal surface protein A inhibits complement activation by *Streptococcus* pneumoniae. Infect. Immun. 67:4720-4.
- 314. van der Ende, A., C. T. P. Hopman, and J. Dankert. 1999. Deletion of *porA* by recombination between clusters of repetitive extragenic palindromic sequences in *Neisseria meningitidis. Infect. Immun.* 67:2928-34.
- 315. van der Ende, A., C. T. P. Hopman, and J. Dankert. 2000. Multiple mechanisms of phase variation of PorA in *Neisseria meningitidis*. *Infect. Immun.* 68:6685-90.
- 316. van der Ende, A., C. T. P. Hopman, W. C. M. Keijzers, L. Spanjaard, E. B. Lodder, P. H. J. van Keulen, and J. Dankert. 2003. Outbreak of meningococcal disease caused by PorA-deficient meningococci. J. Infect. Dis. 187:869-71.

- 317. van der Ende, A., C. T. P. Hopman, S. Zaat, B. B. Oude Essink, B. Berkhout, and J. Dankert. 1995. Variable expression of class 1 outer membrane protein in *Neisseria meningitidis* is caused by variation in the spacing between the -10 and -35 regions of the promoter. *J. Bacteriol.* 177:2475-80.
- 318. van der Ley, P., J. E. Heckels, M. Virji, P. Hoogerhout, and J. T. Poolman. 1991. Topology of outer membrane porins in pathogenic *Neisseria* spp. *Infect. Immun.* 59:2963-71.
- 319. van Deuren, M., P. Brandtzaeg, and J. W. van der Meer. 2000. Update on meningococcal disease with emphasis on pathogenesis and clinical management. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 13:144-66.
- 320. Virji, M., K. Makepeace, D. J. P. Ferguson, M. Achtman, and E. R. Moxon. 1993. Meningococcal Opa and Opc proteins: their role in colonization and invasion of human epithelial and endothelial cells. *Mol. Microbiol.* 10:499-510.
- 321. Virji, M., K. Makepeace, D. J. P. Ferguson, M. Achtman, J. Sarkari, and E. R. Moxon. 1992. Expression of the Opc protein correlates with invasion of epithelial and endothelial cells by *Neisseria meningitidis*. *Mol. Microbiol.* 6:2785-95.
- 322. Vogel, U., H. Claus, G. Heinze, and M. Frosch. 1997. Functional characterization of an isogenic meningococcal α-2,3-sialyltransferase mutant: the role of lipooligosaccharide sialylation for serum resistance in serogroup B meningococci. *Med. Microbiol. Immunol.* 186:159-66.
- 323. Vogel, U., S. Hammerschmidt, and M. Frosch. 1996. Sialic acids of both the capsule and the sialylated lipooligosaccharide of *Neisseria meningitis* serogroup B are prerequisites for virulence of meningococci in the infant rat. *Med. Microbiol. Immunol.* 185:81-7.
- 324. Vogt, W., G. Schmidt, B. von Buttlar, and L. Dieminger. 1978. A new function of the activated third component of complement: binding to C5, an essential step for C5 activation. *Immunology*. 34:29-40.
- 325. Volanakis, J. E., and M. H. Kaplan. 1974. Interaction of C-reactive protein complexes with the complement system. II. Consumption of guinea pig complement by CRP complexes: Requirement for human C1q. J. Immunol. 113:9-17.
- 326. Volanakis, J. E., and M. H. Kaplan. 1971. Specificity of C-reactive protein for choline phosphate residues of pneumococcal C-polysaccharide. *Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med.* 136:612-4.
- 327. Volanakis, J. E., and K. W. A. Wirtz. 1979. Interaction of C-reactive protein with artificial phosphatidylcholine bilayers. *Nature*. 281:155-7.
- Vyse, T. J., P. J. Späth, K. A. Davies, B. J. Morley, P. Philippe, P. Athanassiou, C. M. Giles, and M. J. Walport. 1994. Hereditary complement factor I deficiency. QJM. 87:385-401.
- 329. Waage, A., A. Halstensen, and T. Espevik. 1987. Association between tumour necrosis factor in serum and fatal outcome in patients with meningococcal disease. *Lancet.* I:355-7.
- 330. Walker, F. J. 1981. Regulation of activated protein C by protein S: The role of phospholipid in factor Va inactivation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 256:11128-31.
- 331. Walker, F. J., S. I. Chavin, and P. J. Fay. 1987. Inactivation of factor VIII by activated protein C and protein S. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 252:322-8.
- 332. Ward, P. A., and L. J. Newman. 1969. A neutrophil chemotactic factor from human C'5. *J. Immunol.* 102:93-9.
- Watson, D. A., and D. M. Musher. 1990. Interruption of capsule production in Streptococcus pneumoniae serotype 3 by insertion of transposon Tn916. Infect. Immun. 58:3135-8.
- 334. Watson, D. A., D. M. Musher, and J. Verhoef. 1995. Pneumococcal virulence factors and host immune responses to them. *Eur. J. Clin. Microbiol. Infect. Dis.* 14:479-90.
- 335. Weiler, J. M., M. R. Daha, K. F. Austen, and D. T. Fearon. 1976. Control of the amplification convertase of complement by the plasma protein ß1H. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 73:3268-72.

- 336. Weiser, J. N., R. Austrian, P. K. Sreenivasan, and H. R. Masure. 1994. Phase variation in pneumococcal opacity: relationship between colonial morphology and nasopharyngeal colonization. *Infect. Immun.* 62:2582-9.
- 337. Weiser, J. N., N. Pan, K. L. McGowan, D. Musher, A. Martin, and J. Richards. 1998. Phosphorylcholine on the lipopolysaccharide of *Haemophilus influenzae* contributes to persistence in the respiratory tract and sensitivity to serum killing mediated by C-reactive protein. *J. Exp. Med.* 187:631-40.
- 338. Wessels, M. R., P. Butko, M. Ma, H. B. Warren, A. L. Lage, and M. C. Carroll. 1995. Studies of group B streptococcal infection in mice deficient in complement component C3 or C4 demonstrate an essential role for complement in both innate and acquired immunity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 92:11490-4.
- 339. Wessels, M. R., L. C. Paoletti, D. L. Kasper, J. L. DiFabio, F. Michon, K. Holme, and H. J. Jennings. 1990. Immunogenicity in animals of a polysaccharide-protein conjugate vaccine against type III group B *Streptococcus. J. Clin. Invest.* 86:1428-33.
- 340. Wessels, M. R., C. E. Rubens, V. J. Benedi, and D. L. Kasper. 1989. Definition of a bacterial virulence factor: Sialylation of the group B streptococcal capsule. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.* 86:8983-7.
- 341. Wetzler, L. M., K. Barry, M. S. Blake, and E. C. Gotschlich. 1992. Gonococcal lipooligosaccharide sialylation prevents complement-dependent killing by immune sera. *Infect. Immun.* 60:39-43.
- 342. Wexler, D. E., D. E. Chenoweth, and P. P. Cleary. 1985. Mechanism of action of the group A streptococcal C5a inactivator. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 82:8144-8.
- 343. Whaley, K., and S. Ruddy. 1976. Modulation of the alternative complement pathway by β1H globulin. *J. Exp. Med.* 144:1147-63.
- 344. Wolbink, G. J., M. C. Brouwer, S. Buysmann, I. J. M. ten Berge, and C. E. Hack. 1996. CRP-mediated activation of complement in vivo. Assessment by measuring circulating complement-C-reactive protein complexes. *J. Immunol.* 157:473-9.
- 345. Woods, J. P., and J. G. Cannon. 1990. Variation in expression of class 1 and class 5 outer membrane proteins during nasopharyngeal carriage of *Neisseria meningitidis*. *Infect. Immun.* 58:569-72.
- 346. Wright, S. D., and S. C. Silverstein. 1983. Receptors for C3b and C3bi promote phagocytosis but not the release of toxic oxygen from human phagocytes. *J. Exp. Med.* 158:2016-23.
- 347. Wuorimaa, T., and H. Käyhty. 2002. Current state of pneumococcal vaccines. *Scand. J. Immunol.* 56:111-29.
- 348. Würzner, R. 1999. Evasion of pathogens by avoiding recognition or eradication by complement, in part via molecular mimicry. *Mol. Immunol.* 36:249-60.
- 349. Wyle, F. A., M. S. Artenstein, B. L. Brandt, E. C. Tramont, D. L. Kasper, P. L. Altieri, S. L. Berman, and J. P. Lowenthal. 1972. Immunologic response of man to group B meningococcal polysaccharide vaccines. *J. Infect. Dis.* 126:514-22.
- 350. Xu, Y., M. Ma, G. C. Ippolito, H. W. Schroeder, Jr., M. C. Carroll, and J. E. Volanakis. 2001. Complement activation in factor D-deficient mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*. 98:14577-82.
- 351. Yamada, Y., K. Kimball, S. Okusawa, G. Vachino, N. Margolis, J. W. Sohn, J. J. Li, G. Wakabayashi, K. McAdam, J. F. Burke, C. A. Dinarello, and J. A. Gelfand. 1990. Cytokines, acute phase proteins, and tissue injury. C-reactive protein opsonizes dead cells for debridement and stimulates cytokine production. *Ann. N.Y. Acad. Sci.* 587:351-61.
- 352. Yamamoto, K., and R. B. Johnston Jr. 1984. Dissociation of phagocytosis from stimulation of the oxidative metabolic burst in macrophages. *J. Exp. Med.* 159:405-16.
- 353. Ying, S. C., A. T. Gewurz, H. Jiang, and H. Gewurz. 1993. Human serum amyloid P component oligomers bind and activate the classical complement pathway via residues 14-26 and 76-92 of the A chain collagen-like region of C1q. *J. Immunol.* 150:169-76.

- 354. Yother, J., and D. E. Briles. 1992. Structural properties and evolutionary relationships of PspA, a surface protein of *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, as revealed by sequence analysis. *J. Bacteriol.* 174:601-9.
- 355. Yother, J., J. E. Volanakis, and D. E. Briles. 1982. Human C-reactive protein is protective against fatal *Streptococcus pneumoniae* infection in mice. *J. Immunol.* 128:2374-6.
- 356. Yother, J., and J. M. White. 1994. Novel surface attachment mechanism of the *Streptococcus pneumoniae* protein PspA. J. Bacteriol. 176:2976-85.
- 357. Zhang, Y., A. W. Masi, V. Barniak, K. Mountzouros, M. K. Hostetter, and B. A. Green. 2001. Recombinant PhpA protein, a unique histidine motif-containing protein from *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, protects mice against intranasal pneumococcal challenge. *Infect. Immun.* 69:3827-36.
- 358. Ziegler, J. B., C. A. Alper, R. S. Rosen, P. J. Lachmann, and L. Sherington. 1975. Restoration by purified C3b inactivator of complement-mediated function in vivo in a patient with C3b inactivator deficiency. *J. Clin. Invest.* 55:668-72.
- 359. Zipfel, P. F., T. S. Jokiranta, J. Hellwage, V. Koistinen, and S. Meri. 1999. The factor H protein family. *Immunopharmacology*. 42:53-60.
- 360. Zipfel, P. F., and C. Skerka. 1999. FHL-1/reconectin: a human complement and immune regulator with cell-adhesive function. *Immunol. Today*. 20:135-40.